
 
AGENDA 

Columbus Area Metropolitan Planning Organization 
(CAMPO) 

Policy Board Meeting 
10:00 AM 

Friday, Dec 21, 2012 
City Hall – City Council Chamber 

 
ROLL CALL 

CONSENT AGENDA 

A. Minutes of the August 6, 2012 meeting 
 
NEW BUSINESS REQUIRING BOARD ACTION 

B. Consider for adoption the 2013-2014 Statement of Work (SOW) 

1. Resolution 2012-12 – Resolution to Adopt the Statement of Work for Calendar Years 2013 & 201 

C. Consider for approval changes to the CAMPO Urban Area Boundary 

1. Resolution 2012-13 – Amend the CAMPO Urban Area Boundary based on the 2010 Census 
Urbanized Area 

D. Consider for approval changes to the Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) 
1. Resolution 2012-14 – Amend new INDOT projects into TIP 

 

DISCUSSION ITEM 

E. ColumBUS Transit Improvement & Expansion Plan – Parsons Brinckerhoff (Indy/Cincy) 

F. Columbus Bicycle & Pedestrian Plan Expansion – Rundell Ernstberger (Indy/Fl) 

G. State Street Corridor Study – Lakota Group (Chicago/South Bend) 

H. Budgets  

1. MPO City budgets (2012 & 2013)  
2. INDOT reimbursement budget 

I. Next meeting? 

 
ADJOURNMENT 

 



DRAFT – MINUTES 
Columbus Area Metropolitan Planning Organization 

(CAMPO) 
Policy Board Meeting 

Monday August 6, 2012   
1:00PM 

City Hall, Council Chambers 
 
ROLL CALL 
 
Kristen Brown  Present 
Zack Ellison  Present 
Larry Fisher  Present 
Roger Lang  Present 
Jim Ude   Present for Kathy Eaton-McKalip 
Jim Lienhoop  Not Present 
Paul Franke  Not Present 
 
Staff Attendees:  Laurence Brown, Dave Hayward, Aimee Morris 
 
CONSENT AGENDA 
 

A. Minutes of the April 16, 2012 meeting. 
Motion was made and seconded to accept the minutes. 
Minutes passed. 

 
NEW BUSINESS REQUIRING BOARD ACTION 
 

B. Resolution 2012-4 
Resolution To Amend Existing Local Projects In The SFY 2012-2016  
Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) 
 
Larry Fisher made a motion to approve, which was seconded by Jim Ude. 
The motion passed unanimously.    
 

C. Resolution 2012-5 
Resolution To Amend New Local Projects Into The SFY 2012-2016 
Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) 
 
Larry Fisher made a motion to approve, which was seconded by Roger Lang. 
The motion passed unanimously. 
 

D. Resolution 2012-6 
Resolution To Amend Existing INDOT Projects In The SFY 2012-2016 
Transportation Improvement Plan (TIP) 
 
Jim Ude made a motion to approve, which was seconded by Larry Fisher. 
The motion passed unanimously. 



E. Resolution 2012-7 
Resolution To Amend New INDOT Projects Into the SFY 2012-2016 
Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) 
 
Larry Fisher made a motion to approve, which was seconded by Roger Lang. 
The motion passed unanimously. 

 
F. Resolution 2012-8 

Resolution To Remove Eliminated INDOT Projects From The SFY 2012-2016 
Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) 
 
Laurence explained that these were INDOT Projects that have been dropped for this time 
period.  Jim Ude explained that INDOT has changed the way they prioritize and select projects.  
They now use a rating system and all districts compete against each other for funds.  There were 
other projects which scored higher than these listed. These projects can be re-submitted for in 
future fiscal years (2018). 
 
Discussion led to the decision to leave two INDOT projects in the TIP, for informational purposes 
only.  The money will not be allocated for the projects, however CAMPO does not want to forget 
about these projects. 
 
Laurence said he could modify the TIP keeping the SR 46 traffic hardware modernization project 
and the SR 58 Bridge Projects as informational items. All other items were ok to eliminate. 
 
Larry Fisher made a motion to keep the SR 58 projects and the SR46 hardware modernization. 
Everything else is ok to eliminate.  Motion was seconded by Roger Lang. 
The motion passed unanimously with those amendments. 

 
G. Resolution 2012-9 

Resolution To Amend “New Freedom” Transit Grant--To Improve Call-A-Bus Deployment— 
Into The SFY 2012-2016 Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) 
 
Roger Lang made a motion to approve, which was seconded by Larry Fisher.   
The motion passed unanimously. 
 

H.  Resolution 2012-11 
 Resolution To Increase Columbus Transit Operating Funds And Allocate Funds For A New Bus To   
 The SFY 2012-2016 Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) 
 
 Roger Lang made a motion to approve, which was seconded by Larry Fisher. 
 The motion passed unanimously. 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 



Consider for Approval changes to the existing 2011-2012 Statement of Work (SOW) 
 

I.  Resolution 2012-3 
Resolution to amend existing Statement of Work (SOW) to include Comprehensive Operational 
Analysis (COA) of ColumBUS Transit, begin long-term “Complete Network” modeling and 
scenario-planning study, and downtown parking plan. 
 
Larry Fisher made a motion to approve, which was seconded by Jim Ude. 
The motion passed unanimously. 
 

Items requiring Board action were complete. 
 
Discussion items were introduced by Laurence Brown. 
 
Draft 2013-2014 State of Work will focus on: 
Transit 
Travel demand model 
Downtown parking,  
Developing a transportation safety team   
Continue developing Columbus as a Bike-Friendly Community, with Bike Boulevards, Cyclovia and 
Sunday Parkways. 
 
Zack Ellison mentioned moving to quarterly meetings. 
Laurence mentioned that at the next meeting bylaws will be examined. 
 
Zack Ellison made a motion to adjourn the meeting, which was seconded by Roger Lang. 
The meeting was adjourned at 2:22 pm. 

 
 
          

  
 
 

  
   



RESOLUTION 2012 – 12 
 

RESOLUTION TO ADOPT STATEMENT OF WORK 
FOR CALENDAR YEARS 2013 & 2014 

 
 

WHEREAS, the Columbus Area Metropolitan Planning Organization is the designated 
Metropolitan Planning Organization, responsible for transportation planning, in the 
Columbus and Bartholomew County area; and 

 
 

WHEREAS, development of an annual STATEMENT OF WORK, in lieu of a Unified 
Planning Work Program, describing the MPO Board’s projects using U.S. Department of 
Transportation funding is a requirement; and 

 
 

WHEREAS, staff has developed a STATEMENT OF WORK for 2013 and 2014; and 
 
 

NOW THEREFOR BE IT RESOLVED by the Policy Board of the Columbus Area 
Metropolitan Planning Organization that the presented STATEMENT OF WORK for 
calendar year 2013 and 2014 is hereby accepted and adopted. 

 
 
 

Adopted on December 21, 2012 
 
 
 
 

_________________________________ 
Zack Ellison, President 

 
 
 
 
 

_______________________________ 
Mayor Kristen Brown, Secretary-Treasurer 

 



 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Statement of Work 
 
 
 

Calendar Year 
2013 & 2014 

 
November 30, 2012 



   2 

Table of Contents 
 

Contents 
Introduction ........................................................................................... 3 

CAMPO Policy Board .............................................................................. 4 

Voting Members .................................................................................. 4 
Non-Voting Ex-Officio Members ............................................................... 4 

Technical Committee ............................................................................... 5 

2013 & 2014 Statement of Work ................................................................... 6 

Administration ..................................................................................... 6 
Annual Documents ............................................................................... 6 
Planning Support .................................................................................. 7 
2013 & 2014 Work Program Specific Products ............................................... 8 
ColumBUS Transit Route Expansion & improvement Plan ............................... 8 
Bike / Pedestrian - Infrastructure scenarios & Inventory .................................... 8 

Bike Plan Update .............................................................................. 8 
GIS Pedestrian Facility Inventory ........................................................... 8 

“Complete Network” Plan ....................................................................... 8 
Travel Demand Model ....................................................................... 8 
Multi-modal Scenario Planning .............................................................. 9 
Transportation Plan Update .................................................................. 9 

Downtown Parking Plan ......................................................................... 9 
State Street Corridor Study ...................................................................... 9 
Columbus Transportation Safety Team .....................................................10 
Bike Boulevard & Cyclovia / Sunday Parkways ............................................10 
Travel Demand Management Programs ....................................................10 
Revenues & Expenses – 2014 .................................................................12 
2 CFR 225 Direct Cost Certification .........................................................13 

Adoption Resolution ..............................................................................14 

Metropolitan Transportation Planning Process Certification ................................15 

 
 

 



   3 

Introduction 
 
The Statement of Work (SOW) prepared in lieu of a Unified Planning Work Program1 
sets forth the total planning activities to be undertaken by the Columbus Area 
Metropolitan Planning Organization (CAMPO or MPO) during the fiscal year.  The 
fiscal year of CAMPO runs from January through December to coincide with the fiscal 
year of the City of Columbus.  This work program covers two years. 
 
CAMPO is comprised of a Policy Board and a Technical Advisory Committee.  They 
were created on October 21st 2003. 
 
The Policy Board is comprised of elected officials from the City of Columbus, 
Bartholomew County, and the presidents of the Columbus and Bartholomew County 
Plan Commission.  The Technical Advisory Committee is composed of senior officials 
from various agencies, departments, public transportation providers and boards involved 
in transportation affairs.  CAMPO staff is assisted by various City, Town, and County 
departments. 
 
The Statement of Work serves as a guide to the total planning effort by describing who 
will perform the work and the work that will be accomplished.  This Statement of Work 
establishes programs to eliminate duplication of effort; inter-relates transportation 
planning, land-use planning, and other elements of the comprehensive planning process; 
and provides a basis for federal and state funding. 
 
This Statement of Work was prepared by the Columbus Area Metropolitan Planning 
Organization in cooperation with the City of Columbus, Bartholomew County, Indiana 
Department of Transportation, and the Federal Highway Administration. 

                                                 
1  TITLE 23, Sec. 450.308 (b) 
 In areas not designated as TMAs, the MPO, in cooperation with the State and transit operators, 
with the approval of the FHWA and the FTA, may prepare a simplified statement of work in lieu of a 
UPWP that describes who will perform the work and the work that will be accomplished using Federal 
funds. 



   4 

CAMPO Policy Board 
 
The CAMPO Policy Board consists of seven voting members and two ex-officio 
members.  Each board member may appoint an alternate with the approval of the 
Board. 
 
 

Voting Members 
 

City of Columbus 
• Kristen Brown, Mayor 
• Jim Lienhoop, President, City Council 
• Roger Lang, President, City Plan Commission 

 
Bartholomew County 

• Larry Fisher, Bartholomew County Council 
• Zack Ellison, President, County Plan Commission 
• Paul Franke, County Commissioners 

 
Indiana Department of Transportation (INDOT) 

• Ryan Gallagher, Interim Deputy Commissioner, INDOT Seymour District 

 

Non-Voting Ex-Officio Members 
 

• Reginald Arkell, Federal Transit Administration Representative 
• Michelle Allen, Federal Highway Administration Representative 

 



   5 

Technical Committee 
 
The Technical Committee has sixteen (16) members. 
 

• Danny Hollander, County Engineer, Bartholomew County 
• David Hayward, City Engineer, City of Columbus 
• Jason Maddix, Columbus Chief of Police 
• Jeff Bergman, Planning Director, Columbus / Bartholomew  
• Brian Payne, Director,  Columbus Regional Airport 
• Cindy Setser, Transit Coordinator, ColumBUS Transit  
• Keith Reeves, Utilities Director, City of Columbus 
• Jeff Lucas, GIS Coordinator, Columbus / Bartholomew 
• Jamie Brinegar, Assistant Director, Columbus Parks & Recreation 
• Vacant, Transportation Director, Bartholomew County School Corp. 
• Emmanuel Nsonwu, MPO Coordinator, INDOT Office of LPA / MPO & Grant 

Administration 
• Brian Jones, INDOT Office of Transit 
• Michelle Allen, FHWA Planning / Environmental Specialist 
• Ron Hoffman, President, Edinburgh Town Council 
• Vacant, Freight Carrier Representative 
• Jim Ude, Planner, INDOT Seymour District 



   6 

2013 & 2014 Statement of Work 
 
 

Administration 
 
Goal:  To administer the Transportation Planning Process. 
 
Description: The MPO will participate in administrating and facilitating the continuing, 

cooperative, and comprehensive Transportation Planning Process.  MPO 
Staff will provide support to the Technical Advisory Committee and 
Policy Board; as well as providing the necessary data and information to 
the Technical Advisory Committee, Policy Board, elected officials, and 
citizens for their review and understanding of transportation related issues.  
The MPO will attend Federal, State and Indiana MPO Council sponsored 
and related transportation meetings, training, conferences and seminars.   

 
 
 

Annual Documents 
 
Goal:  To gather data for and prepare all required documents. 
 
Description: The MPO will research, prepare, and submit various transportation 

technical planning documents as required by law, in particular the Code 
of Federal Regulations Title 23.  These documents represent the core 
products of the MPO: 

 
 The Statement of Work 
 Quarterly Progress Reports 
 Annual Completion Report 
 The Transportation Improvement Program 
 25 Year Transportation Plan (every fifth year) 
 other reports as required 

 
 



   7 

Planning Support 
 
Goal: To provide technical planning support in the form of data and 

information collection and analysis regarding transportation issues relevant 
to the planning area. 

 
Description: In order to produce the required annual documents and work program 

specific products, the MPO must collect and analyze data and information 
from various sources.  This includes but is not limited to the following (in 
no particular order): 

 
 Traffic count data 
 HPMS counts 
 Travel demand model data 
 Transit data 
 Accident and safety data 
 Census and other demographic data 
 National, state, and local legislation, regulations, and ordinances 
 Public opinion 
 Funding levels, programs, and trends 
 Local, state and national planning documents 
 Geographic and spatially related data 

 
In order to accomplish the task of planning support, the MPO will use 
staff capacity; work with other departments and the Technical Advisory 
Committee, as well as purchase capacity and knowledge as needed.  The 
output of the planning process can be found in multiple forms.  This 
includes data within the City / County GIS System, in annual standard 
products, in work program specific products, and / or on file in the MPO 
office. 



   8 

2013 & 2014 Work Program Specific Products 
 
In addition to the standard annual products listed above, the following products will be 
produced as a part of this work program: 
 

ColumBUS Transit Route Expansion & improvement Plan 
The ColumBUS Transit system will have finished its Comprehensive Operational 
Analysis and will have route changes and route expansions to implement.  This will 
require substantial planning resources to make happen.  These plans are likely to be 
incrementally implemented over the entire 2013 year.  The MPO will provide time an 
expertise to this effort, along with looking for additional federal, state and local funding 
sources.  

Bike / Pedestrian - Infrastructure scenarios & Inventory  

Bike & Ped Plan Update 

Columbus has created a City of Columbus Bike and Pedestrian Plan and a Safe Routes 
to School Plan.  These plans are the starting blocks for the continued improvement and 
expansion of the Bike and Pedestrian Plan.  As noted in the Plan, 
 
 “It is anticipated that this plan will require revisions and modifications as projects are 
implemented and as conditions change. This plan should be reviewed and updated as 
related plans, transportation projects, and facility needs evolve.” (Bike & Ped Plan, p 7)  
 
Columbus has been designated as a Bicycle-Friendly Community at the Bronze level.  
There are Silver, Gold and Platinum levels as well.  This update will provide project lists 
and descriptions that might meet each of these higher levels.   

GIS Pedestrian Facility Inventory 

In addition, this plan will create a GIS inventory of pedestrian facilities, their condition, 
level of service and the quality of the pedestrian environment. 

“Complete Network” Plan 
Taking terminology from the “Complete Streets” campaign, but taking a much broader 
view, we would like to create a Complete transportation Network plan of roads, 
bikeways, and transit routes, etc. that optimize the movement, safety, health and quality 
of life, and do so most cost effectively.   

Travel Demand Model 

One of the most valued tools for good long-range planning is the Travel Demand Model 
(TDM) -- a computer simulator of people and goods movement useful for predicting 
future travel needs, and for testing different scenarios of infrastructure, development 
patterns, and multi-modal transportation options to determine the optimum use of 



   9 

transportation funds to meet the vision of the region.  This project will have started in 
2012; this effort requires substantial data collection along with modeling expertise. This 
model will be completed in mid-2013 and be usable by MPO staff for modeling future 
travel needs and analyzing alternative solutions to localized travel problems.   

Multi-modal Scenario Planning  

In addition to the model development, using the model to study multiple scenarios using 
scenario-planning techniques will lead us to a set of multi-modal transportation network 
options from which the community will choose the option that best meets their vision for 
Columbus.  This is a long-term project that will require consulting services and a 
substantial investment of time and MPO budget in 2013. By October of 2013, the 
Complete Network Plan should be completed with a set of policies and projects and 
their effects on movement, health, safety, land-use and quality of life.   
 

Transportation Plan Update 

The current Metropolitan Transportation Plan covers the time period 2012 – 2037.  A 
major update is planned in 2015, after which updates will take place every five years.  
After the “Complete Network” planning effort, a long-term transportation plan should 
fall easily out of that work via the many planning scenarios and policies that resulted.  
Transportation Plan development does need to be a very public process with many 
public meetings, and we expect that the Complete Network project will have already 
amassed a public following which the Transportation Plan will continue.   
 

Downtown Parking Plan 
Parking supply and policy, especially in a downtown, have substantial effects on parking 
costs, mode choice, and downtown economic vitality.  The city now owns two parking 
garages, Cummins is building another, and is bringing 1500 new employees downtown 
in 2013. The MPO will have completed an initial study and plan for the downtown by 
the end of 2012.  The MPO will continue to take some leadership regarding the 
implementation of parking garage plans and the adjustment of those plans as the office, 
residential, and retail buildings open and parking practices change.   
 

State Street Corridor Study 
The State Street corridor extends approximately 2 miles through the City of Columbus. 
State Street itself is also State Road 46, and features a total of 5 lanes of traffic. The 
properties adjacent to State Street feature a mixture of residential, commercial, industrial, 
and institutional uses. This area is aging and is not drawing new development.  This 
study will review existing property, planning and transportation features, provide a 
market analysis, work with INDOT, property owners, and meet with the public to create 
a land-use plan and streetscape that will fulfill the city’s comprehensive plan to improve 
the economic viability of the area.  Walkability, Transit-Oriented Development (TOD), 
and mixed-use will be important objectives in this study.   



   10 

 

Columbus Transportation Safety Team 
The MPO will lead and staff a team of community leaders and stakeholders focusing on 
transportation safety.  This will include people from nearly every city department, county 
departments, school officials, elected officials, and health and safety community leaders.  
This group will look at all modes of travel and concern themselves with the vulnerable 
users such as bikes, pedestrians and transit users.  This Team will look at other 
communities around the nation and world that have successfully reduced crash-related 
injuries.  They may help lead a campaign for safer travel habits for all modes.  The 
Team will be a community wide effort that is led by the MPO, Planning staff and 
Healthy Communities.  
 

Bike Boulevard & Cyclovia / Sunday Parkways 
As Columbus continues to implement their Bicycle and Pedestrian Plan and Safe Routes 
to School Plan, and continues to build toward a Silver, Gold or Platinum Bike-Friendly 
Community, some of the initiatives that will move us in that direction are looking at 
higher levels of bike-friendly infrastructure like bike boulevards.  These are city streets 
that are fitted with infrastructure treatments that discourage thru-car traffic, and 
encourage slow driving speeds, thus creating a nice bicycling environment.   
 
 On a far more temporary setting, Cyclovias and Sunday Parkways are where streets are 
temporarily closed completely to cars, and citizens and families can walk, bike, skate, 
skateboard, etc. up and down what are usually very busy streets to many great 
destinations without the fear of cars.  These are hugely popular in many counties around 
the world, and are gaining favor in cities around the U.S..  

Travel Demand Management Programs 
The MPO will begin working with community, corporate leadership to find ways to 
reduce the amount of single occupant vehicle commuting.  These programs are called 
Travel Demand Management Programs.  Sometimes there are Employer-based 
programs, because this reduced parking needs reduce costs and allow for expansion 
without land purchase, and improve the health of employees.  Other public-private 
programs could include car-sharing, bike-sharing, and transit shuttle systems.  TDM 
programs also have educational and economic-incentive programs. 



   11 

 Revenues & Expenses – 2013 
 

 

Revenues Expenses

Direct Expenses

FHWA PL Funds & 5303 $193,572 Personel
STP $5,978 Salary $56,375
Total $199,550 PERF @ 12.25% $6,906

FICA @ 7.65% $4,313
Insurance $11,364
Sum $78,958

Items
Columbus $44,899 Fuel & auto maintenance $1,198
Bartholomew County $4,989 Office supplies & misc supplies $1,075
Total $49,887 Travel Expenses $2,500

Training & professional conferences $3,150
Legal ads, printing & postage, phone $1,520
Legal services $1,500
Office Rent $3,000
Software & peripherals $33,000
Dues and Subscriptions $1,300
Traffic Safety Team/Campaign $20,000
Parkways & Transit Route Expand $50,000
State Street Corridor Study $30,000
Complete Network $22,236

Total Revenues $249,437 Total Expenses $249,437

Federal Funds (80%)

Local Match (20%)

 
 



   12 

Revenues & Expenses – 2014 
 
 
 

Revenues Expenses

Direct Expenses

FHWA 2014 PL Funds & 5303 $193,572 Personel
Rollover from 2012 PL Funds $70,000 Salary $59,000
Total $263,572 PERF @ 12.25% $7,228

FICA @ 7.65% $4,514
Insurance $22,728
Sum $93,470

Items
Columbus $59,304 Fuel & auto maintenance $1,198
Bartholomew County $6,589 Office supplies & misc supplies $1,075
Total $65,893 Travel Expenses $2,500

Training & professional conferences $3,150
Legal ads, printing & postage, phone $1,520
Legal services $1,500
Office Rent $3,000
Software & peripherals $33,000
Dues and Subscriptions $1,300
Traffic Safety Team/Campaign $20,000
Parkways & TDM Program $30,000
Network &Transportation Plan $137,752

Total Revenues $329,465 Total Expenses $329,465

Federal Funds (80%)

Local Match (20%)

 
 
 
  



   13 

2 CFR 225 Direct Cost Certification 
 
In accordance with 2 CFR 225, the Columbus Area Metropolitan Planning Organization 
(CAMPO) hereby certifies that the staff of CAMPO is employed solely for the function 
of transportation planning as required by 23 CFR for a Metropolitan Planning 
Organization.  CAMPO does not have other functions or tasks outside of transportation 
planning and thus does not have indirect costs. 
 
I declare that the foregoing is true and correct. 
 
Government Unit: Columbus Area Metropolitan Planning Organization 
 
 
Signature:  _________________________________________ 
 
Name of Official: Laurence Brown  
 
Title:   Director 
 
Date of Execution: Oct 31, 2012 



   14 

Adoption Resolution 
 

RESOLUTION 2012 – 12 
 

RESOLUTION TO ADOPT STATEMENT OF WORK 
FOR CALENDAR YEAR 2013 & 2014 

 
 

WHEREAS, the Columbus Area Metropolitan Planning Organization is the designated 
Metropolitan Planning Organization, responsible for transportation planning, in 
the Columbus and Bartholomew County area; and 

 
 

WHEREAS, development of an annual STATEMENT OF WORK, in lieu of a Unified 
Planning Work Program, describing the MPO Board’s projects using U.S. 
Department of Transportation funding is a requirement; and 

 
 

WHEREAS, staff has developed a STATEMENT OF WORK for 2013 and 2014; and 
 
 

NOW THEREFOR BE IT RESOLVED by the Policy Board of the Columbus Area 
Metropolitan Planning Organization that the presented STATEMENT OF 
WORK for calendar year 2013 and 2014 is hereby accepted and adopted. 

 
 
 

Adopted on December 21, 2012 
 
 
 

_______________________________________ 
Zack Ellison, President 

 
 
 
 
 

______________________________________ 
Mayor Kristen Brown, Secretary-Treasurer 





Columbus Area Metropolitan Planning Organization  1 of 1 
Resolution 2012-13 

 
RESOLUTION 2012 – 13 

 
RESOLUTION TO AMEND THE CAMPO URBAN AREA BOUNDARY BASED ON 

THE 2010 CENSUS URBANIZED AREA 
 
WHEREAS, the Columbus Area Metropolitan Planning Organization (CAMPO) is the 

designated Metropolitan Planning Organization for the City of Columbus, the 
Town of Edinburgh and Bartholomew County; and 

 
WHEREAS, based upon the 2010 Census and in accordance with federal requirements, Urban 

Area Boundaries must include the Census Urbanized Area which has grown 
slightly, and 

 
WHEREAS, these new boundaries have been developed by CAMPO staff in cooperation with 

INDOT, and are basically the same as the existing UAB set by Resolution 2004-3 
with the following minor changes:  

 
(1) incorporating the north west piece of Woodside Industrial Park, and including CR 

S300 W from just south of Deaver Rd to CR W600 S, and   
(2) incorporating a piece of Edinburgh city limits north of SR252, east of CR S800 W, 

and west of I-65, such that all municipal land remains within the boundary, and  
(3) incorporating Clifty Village neighborhood on US 31, south of CR E100 S, and 
(4) other minor boundary changes such as at edges of water ways to include minor 

expansion of the 2010 Census Urbanized Area.   
 
WHEREAS, such a grant must be approved by the affected local government bodies, INDOT, 

and FHWA, 
 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the CAMPO Policy Board that the boundary 
map is hereby approved. 
 
 

 
Adopted this 21th day of December 2012 

  
 
 

_________________________________________ 
Zack Ellison, President 

 
 
 

__________________________________ 
Attest: Mayor Kristen Brown 

Secretary/Treasurer 





New Areas 

Removed Area 



Columbus Area Metropolitan Planning Organization  1 of 2 
Resolution 2012-14 

Route DES Work Type Location  Cat.  Phase Year Cost
Future 
Cost to 
Finish

0501212
HMA Overlay, Preventive 

Maintenance From US 50 to 018 miles N of SR 58  IM PE 2013 $6,000

1297604 Surface Treatment, Ultrathin 
Bonded Wearing Course

From US 31 to SR 252  IM CN 2014 $924,000

1297607 Concrete Pavement Restoration 
(CPR)

From .51 mile N of Carr Hill Rd to .17 mile S of 
CR 100N

 IM CN 2014 $1,100,000

1297761 Bridge Inspections I-65 over SR 46  BR  PE 2013 $300,000 $600,000
 SR-46, 
US-31,  
SR-11

1173673 Signing Installation / Repair 38 various locations on SR-46, US-31, and SR-11 
in Bartholomew

 HSIP CN 2014 $330,000

SR 46 1297454 Bridge Inspections SR 46 over EBL White River  BR  PE 2013 $300,000 $600,000

SR 9 1297603
Surface Treatment, Ultrathin 

Bonded Wearing Course From SR 46 to the Shelby County Line  STP CN 2014 $911,000

SR 11 1297605 Surface Treatment, Ultrathin 
Bonded Wearing Course

From Columbus UAB to SR 46  STP CN 2014 $493,000

1297451  Statewide - Bridge Load Rating Inspections  BR  PE 2013 $0
1297452 Statewide - Fracture Critical Inspections  BR PE 2013 $500,000
0901464 tatewide - Inspections on Post-Tensioned Bridge  BR PE 2013 $500,000

Bridge InspectionsVarious

I 65

 
RESOLUTION 2012 – 14 

 
RESOLUTION TO AMEND NEW INDOT PROJECTS INTO THE SFY 2012-2016 

TRANSPORTATION IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM (TIP) 
 
WHEREAS, the Columbus Area Metropolitan Planning Organization (CAMPO) is the 

designated Metropolitan Planning Organization the City of Columbus and 
Bartholomew County; and 

 
WHEREAS, development of the annual TIP, listing all federally funded and regionally 

significant transportation projects is a requirement of the U.S. Department of 
Transportation; and 

 
WHEREAS, INDOT has specific maintenance and improvement projects on their state-owned 

facilities which are in the CAMPO planning area (Bartholomew County) and thus 
must be in the TIP if federal funds are to be expended on these projects, and 

 
WHEREAS, the TIP is developed by the staff of CAMPO for the Policy Board; 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the CAMPO Policy Board that the following 
projects be amended into the Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) for SFY 2012-2016: 
 

 
 
 
 
 



Columbus Area Metropolitan Planning Organization  2 of 2 
Resolution 2012-14 

 
Adopted this 21th day of December 2012 

 
 
 
 

_________________________________________ 
Zack Ellison, President 

 
 
 
 

__________________________________ 
Attest: Mayor Kristen Brown 

Secretary/Treasurer 



1 
 

SELECTED ELEMENTS OF THE REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL 
FOR A COLUMBUS TRANSIT IMPROVEMENT & EXPANSION PLAN FOR THE 

CITY OF COLUMBUS TRANSIT FIXED-ROUTE SYSTEM 
 
1. GENERAL 
 
Date of issue: November 20, 2012 
 
Proposal due date: December 5, 2012, 4:00 P.M., local time. 
 
Contracting agency: CAMPO – Columbus Are Metropolitan Planning Organization 
   123 Washington St. 
   Columbus, Indiana  47201 
 
Funding: This project is financed through grants from the Federal government, and any contract 
entered into is subject to the provisions of applicable laws governing that grant.  The successful 
proposer and all subcontractors shall be required to comply with all applicable federal, state, and 
local laws and regulations.   
 
2. BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
The City of Columbus is located in south-central Indiana, approximately 40 miles south of 
Indianapolis.  It is the county seat of Bartholomew County.  The 2010 Census shows Columbus 
with a population of 44,061, and a total of 17,651 households.  The quality of life in Columbus is 
among the best in the U.S.. Columbus also is known worldwide for its architecture, which brings 
many visitors to the area.   
 
ColumBUS Transit operates fixed-route bus and demand-response services from 6:00 a.m. to 
7:00 p.m. Monday through Saturday.  The system has a fleet of five (5), heavy-duty, 30-foot, 
diesel buses for fixed-route operations, and five (5), 12-passenger converted vans for demand-
response service.  All vehicles are wheelchair accessible.  All fixed-route buses are equipped 
with bicycle racks. 
 
Current fixed-route service includes four (4) routes.  These routes have one-hour headways, and 
carry about 250,000 passenger trips annually.  Full-fare riders pay $0.25 per one-way trip, plus 
same fare for each transfer.  Half-price fares of $0.10 per ride are available to Senior Citizens 
(age 60 and older), disabled individuals, and Medicare/Medicaid cardholders. High school age 
and younger can get free fare. 
 
Call-a-Bus is an “origin to destination” demand-response service that is provided for persons 
who, because of disability, are unable to access the fixed-route bus service.  The fare for this 
service is $0.50 per one-way trip. 
 
Columbus is a fairly compact community.  The street network pattern is primarily a grid-system.  
The four existing public transit routes have a lengthy configuration.  Each of the route buses 
leaves from Mill Race Transit Center, a new transfer station near the downtown, at five minutes 



2 
 

after the hour as a timed-transfer point.  Similarly, all four outbound buses have a common 
terminus at the Target Store in the Columbus Shopping Center.   
 
The City of Columbus has remained a prosperous community, even with the current economic 
climate in the U.S.  Several manufacturing companies continue to exist in Columbus.  The 
automotive industry alone employs nearly 10,400 people. 
 
Cummins Inc., which is a manufacturer of diesel engines and components, has its world 
headquarters and multiple production facilities within the city and nearby rural industrial parks.  
Cummins employs approximately 7700 persons in the region. 
 
There are numerous other industrial businesses that also contribute to Columbus’ strong 
economic base.  Substantial growth also has occurred in high-tech industries in Columbus.  An 
interesting note about these companies is that they have a substantial number of international 
employees, many of whom do not drive cars, and either live within walking distance of work, or 
find housing along a bus route. 
 
In the map below, the city boundaries are shown in yellow.  The four fixed routes are shown in 
color; they service the central city of Columbus.  There is currently no fixed route service to the 
West Hill area of town nor the industrial parks south of town.  
 



3 
 

 
 
 
 
 
3. PURPOSE OF THIS STUDY 
 

The purpose of this ColumBUS Transit Improvement and Expansion Plan (“CTIEP”) is 
to evaluate the efficiency and effectiveness of the current fixed-route bus service and provide 
alternative system designs to maximize transit-use for the system’s patrons and the community 
as a whole. Of particular interest is providing job-commute needs for the community.   
 

West Hill 

Woodside & Walesboro 
Industrial Parks 



4 
 

This Request for Proposals (RFP) will lead to the selection of a qualified firm to develop this 
plan for the City of Columbus.  The Columbus Area Metropolitan Planning Organization 
(CAMPO) is the sponsor of this plan.  The planning process shall include data collection and 
analysis, substantial input and participation from system patrons, the general public, and 
businesses, and recommendations for system improvements. 
 
A CTIEP Steering Committee (the “Committee”) will be formed.  It will include staff from 
CAMPO, ColumBUS Transit, Engineering, Planning, Administration and representation from 
the Transit Advisory Committee.  
 
4. SCOPE OF WORK 
 

Prospective consultants are encouraged to establish their own methodologies for 
achieving study objectives and purposes.  That is, the term “shall” in these objectives can be 
considered “should” if you can propose good reasons (like cost) as to why you would suggest 
something else that would provide equal or better value. Proposals may be generalized, but 
should address the following objectives and issues. 
 

4.1 Review of Existing Ridership Composition 
 
The consultant shall prepare a summary of the current ridership characteristics of 
ColumBUS Transit patrons in terms demographic composition.  2010 Census data shall 
be used to determine the locations within the community where the majority of these 
residents live.  The consultant will use GIS and 2010 Census data to quantify the 
demographics, population, destination centers, and transit proximity to correlate to route 
use and route potential.   

 
4.2 Onboard Data Collection and Analysis 
 
The consultant shall conduct a 100 percent on/off count of all trips on all routes during 
one six-day week in the Spring of 2013, but no later than May 15, 2013.  The week of the 
counts will be selected by the Committee.  Data collected as a part of the on/off counts 
shall, at a minimum, include the following: 
 
 Number of embarking & debarking persons by stop location for all trips on all routes; 
 Passenger origins & destinations of stops (or actual), as best as possible.  
 Passenger load factors for all trips on all routes; 
 Schedule adherence data for all trips on all routes; 
 Numbers of persons in wheelchairs for all trips on all routes; and 
 Numbers of bikes loaded for all trips for all routes. 
 
The consultant shall compile, tabulate, and summarize all on/off data into spreadsheets or 
GIS, and provide such data to CAMPO. 
 
The consultant is responsible for providing all necessary personnel to conduct all on/off 
counts and supervise the count personnel.  If the consultant desires to enlist assistance, 



5 
 

the Committee can attempt to provide staff, or provide names and contacts for temp firms 
in the area. 
 
4.3 Customer, Driver, Public & Business Surveys 
 
The consultant shall conduct surveys to collect demographic, travel data relative to 
ColumBUS fixed route customers, and desired service improvements of customers, 
drivers, the non-riding public, and business owners/leaders. 
 
Customer & non-riding public demographics such as gender, age, ethnicity, household 
income, vehicle availability and frequency of transit use shall be considered.  
 
The customer survey shall be conducted using a statistically valid sample size.  The 
survey data shall be summarized by route.  Service improvement choices for riders shall 
include things like: 
 
 Improved frequency  
 Addition hours of service  
 Expanded coverage of the City by fixed routes 
 Sunday service  
 New stop locations 
 Route changes (more streamlined routes, etc.) 
 Technical amenities (Next bus info, wifi, bus locator app, signal preemption, etc.) 
 park and ride service 
 express bus routes (less stops, Bus Rapid Transit) 
 downtown shuttle/circulator service 
 Additional shelters and benches at bus stops 

 
Non-riding public and business owner/leader surveys should focus on what keeps them 
from using the bus, and what would encourage use.  Surveys can be a substantial cost; 
survey simplicity and use of on-line surveys is encouraged.  The consultant shall 
collaborate with the Committee on survey questions and the survey methods.  
 
 
4.4 Identification and Location of Major Public Transit Trip Generators 
 
From the information obtained through the onboard data collection effort, census data, 
etc., the consultant shall identify the major trip generators in Columbus for ColumBUS 
Transit and for all modes of transportation. The consultant shall prepare a map that shows 
the location of the major public transit trip generators, which shall be incorporated with 
the ridership GIS data in section 4.1.   

 
4.5 Pedestrian Environment to Origins / Destinations 
 
Transit users need a good pedestrian environment to get to their destinations.  The 
consultant will create an inventory of the sidewalks, quality of the pedestrian 



6 
 

environment, and pedestrian difficulties (deflections, elevations, curbs, traffic, etc.)  when 
traveling from origins to bus stops or from bus stops to desired destinations. These are 
necessary to determine possible improvements and to prioritize these improvements 
based on potential demand improvement need. 
 
A GIS layer of citywide sidewalks and associated conditions is a part of another RFP 
being advertised at this time.  It will be the consultant’s responsibility to coordinate with 
that consultant so that compatible information can be and is exchanged and duplication is 
avoided.  The consultant (you) shall produce a prioritized list of problem areas --  based 
on the level of the problem and the existing & potential demand in that area – which shall 
be a deliverable of the consultant. This does not need to be citywide, but specific to the 
needs of transit users. Some GIS and sidewalk inventory work has been done.  

 
4.6 Coordination with Travel Model Developer 
 
A separate RFP will develop a Travel Demand Model which will incorporate transit, bike 
and pedestrian trips.  The census data, travel-survey data, socio-economic data and 
ultimately, the transit scenarios that this Plan produces, should be coordinated with the 
travel model consultants as best as possible to share data, reduce duplication and improve 
GIS data exchange issues. CAMPO owns a TransCAD license.  
 
4.7 Public Participation 
 
The consultant shall conduct a public participation process to ensure that there is 
substantial opportunities for early consultation and participation in the study process from 
system patrons, the general public, elected officials, and the business community.  
Outreach methods shall include consultation with CAMPO, ColumBUS Transit, the 
Committee, and the MPO’s Transit Advisory Committee during the study process, and 
public information meetings, through which the general public can attend and provide 
input during the planning process.  Public participation meetings shall be held at key 
milestones during the project to solicit comments on the findings and recommendations 
as they become available.  The consultant is encouraged to use social media as another 
source of public information exchange.  
 
The consultant shall be responsible for the preparation of all presentation materials to be 
used at all public forums related to the Plan development.  The consultant also shall be 
responsible for collecting, evaluating, and developing response to comments received 
through the public participation. All comments shall be reviewed with the Committee 
prior to release to the general public. 
 
The total number of public meetings to be held with regard to CTIEP should be stated in 
the response.  CAMPO shall be responsible for securing the sites for any and all public 
meetings.  Expenses associated with the conduct of the public meetings, including 
displays, printed materials, personnel, travel, per diem, etc., shall be the responsibility of 
the consultant. 
 



7 
 

4.8 Identify and Evaluate Service Alternative Scenarios. 
 
This is the meat of this RFP.  The consultant shall formulate alternatives to improve the 
current fixed-route system.  Such alternatives shall include substantial changes that 
exceed the term “adjustments.” They may include changing the number of hubs and the 
location(s), new routes covering new areas, completely new route alignments, operating 
strategies, schedule revisions, express routes, Bus Rapid Transit, marketing strategies, 
technological improvements, sidewalk improvements, and other enhancements to make 
the system more user-friendly. 
 
Specific issues which should be evaluated and discussed include the following: 
 
 Routes to unserved areas: West Hill, Woodside, Edinburgh 
 Route frequency to 30 minutes.  
 Route hours expansion. 
 Route realignments.  
 Routes that facilitate interplant movement 
 Routes that facilitate job commutes 
 Route interlocks to improve schedule adherence and facilitate transfers; 
 Streamlining service, impacts on existing riders & ridership. 
 Pedestrian environment improvements 
 Reducing service redundancy;  

 
The surveys should have an effect on the list and priority of the alternatives considered. A 
number of optimizing and investment scenarios have been considered very preliminarily 
by city and MPO staff.  The following graph shows numerous potential improvements 
and their estimated system costs.  
 
Scenario 4 is the least self-explanatory.  This is Scenario #1 plus adding a 5th route to the 
existing central-city system and creating a single hub along Central Ave and running a 
single express bus (30 min headway) up and down Central Ave from downtown to the 
college campus areas, meanwhile, changing the existing 4 routes to do 30-minute 
headway from the central hub. 
 
 

 



8 
 

 
 
The consultant-developed scenarios should begin with the resources being used now and 
alternatives system designs to best use these resources, and then consider a number of 
incremental improvements and the concomitant increased resource investment. These 
should include  a qualitative and/or quantitative description of what community benefits 
will occur as a result, such as ridership increases, job accessibility, personal costs 
reductions, congestion relief, safety improvements, reduced parking needs, sprawl 
reducing effects, pollution reduction, health improvements, etc.. 
 
These scenarios, or similar scenarios can be found in existing Columbus planning 
documents such as:  
 
City of Columbus Central Avenue Corridor Study (2007) – p22, 23, 25 
 
2005 Corradino ColumBUS Route Study  
2005 Corradino ColumBUS Route Study Summary Handout  
 
4.9 Identify and Evaluate Service Metrics 
 
The consultant also shall evaluate the ColumBUS Transit fixed-route service to 
determine service metrics that represent efficiency and effectiveness.  Included in this 
analysis will be a discussion of the following data: 
 
 Hourly boardings for each route – Weekday and Saturday; 
 Hourly productivity for each route by time of day; 
 Boarding/alighting activity by route segment; 

http://www.columbus.in.gov/linkservid/BD75CE3F-BC30-5BDD-7FF87D6EA46DE299/showMeta/0


9 
 

 Maximum passenger loads by trip-time for each route; 
 Route speeds and schedule, and impact of wheelchair/bike boardings  
 Adequacy of layover times for individual routes. 

 
The consultant shall consider metrics that describe the value (benefit & cost) to the 
community such as those values listed in section 4.8.  Also, we are looking for metrics 
that can be used across modes, or can be used to score and prioritize projects of different 
modes. 
 
 In Columbus, we would like to see our transit LOS be similar to our car and bike LOS, 
but each LOS is not generally gauged on the same scale. We are aware that a road-
capacity LOS of “A” may represent an overinvestment that has negative urban effects.  
We are looking for metrics that put transit, bike, ped and auto LOS on a comparable scale 
and provide a quantitative value of benefits & costs to the overall community (local, 
national and global). 
 
4.8 Service Improvements and Expansion Scenarios 
 
The consultant shall develop three sets of recommendations to improve the system.  One 
set will provide alternative system designs for different levels of resource investment, 
prioritize by the expected community benefits.  The second set will focus on the costs of 
providing the improvements each year for a period of five (5) consecutive years, both 
capital and operational. Overall cost/benefit may be an appropriate method for 
determining these.  The third will consider funding sources and methods to implement 
these improvements. Public-private partnerships should be a consideration.   
 
The consultant will present these recommendations to the Committee.  The consultant 
will take the results of these discussions and formulate the various service improvement 
options into a preferred implementation plan. 
 
4.9 Program of Projects 
 
The preferred implementation plan will include a program of projects and an 
implementation schedule, which again, will be vetted by the Committee, or members 
thereof.  Some or all of which may be incorporated into the metropolitan area’s 
Transportation Improvement Program (TIP). 
 
A West Hill fixed route has substantial demand.  The number of customer requests for 
this additional route is formidable compared to other requests. It is possible that this and 
other “projects” may be identified early in the process by the Committee as part of the 
Program of Projects. In this case, implementation may be desired prior to the approval of 
the Plan.  
 
 
 
 



10 
 

4.10 Final Recommendations and Plan 
 
The consultant shall prepare the final recommendations and the initial draft Columbus 
Transit Improvement & Expansion Plan in cooperation with the Committee.  The draft 
will contain, at a minimum, the results of the surveys, studies of the existing system, the 
scenarios considered, their benefits and costs and possible funding mechanisms, the 
preferred implementation plan and the program of projects and implementation schedule.  
A summary document shall also be drafted that provides the public with a nice-looking, 
well-illustrated summary of, at a minimum, the preferred implementation plan and 
schedule, and other important aspects of the plan.  
 
There shall be a public meeting where the Plan and its development are described and the 
public is allowed to comment. These comments may be incorporated into the Plan.  The 
consultant then shall formally present the final draft of the Columbus Transit 
Improvement & Expansion Plan to the MPO Policy Board, it may also be presented to 
other Boards for endorsement, approval or comment. CAMPO shall endeavor to schedule 
these meetings on the same day or on consecutive days.  The consultant shall supply a 
total of thirty (30) copies of the final draft and 30 copies of the summary to CAMPO.  
The consultant also shall provide an electronic version of draft report to CAMPO in pdf 
and in Microsoft Word, or another approved format, and all documents, spreadsheets, 
databases, GIS files, and all other files CAMPO requests that were developed in the 
process of developing the Plan.  
 
All expenses associated with these presentations, including displays, printed materials, 
personnel, travel, per diem, etc., shall be the responsibility of the consultant. 
 
4.11 Plan Implementation 
 
As necessary, the consultant will provide on-going support in the implementation of the 
Plan.  At this point, it is unknown how much change to the system the Plan will 
recommend, and how much the city will approve or can afford.    We imagine that 
continued consulting services would keep us on track and accelerate our implementation 
of the plan.  It is reasonable to contemplate 10 hours/month for six months, without 
onsite visits, would provide sufficient support to implement much of the plan efficiently.  
 

5.  BUDGET 
 

A total of $45,000 is budgeted for the total project.  Each proposer shall propose a fixed 
dollar amount for the total project in order to successfully complete the project according 
to the scope of work 
 

6. PROJECT SCHEDULE 
 

Issue Requests for Proposals    Nov 20, 2012 
Q & A for RFP        Dec 3, 2012 
Proposals due      Dec 5, 2012 



11 
 

Selection of consultant    Dec 7, 2012 
Contract Draft      Dec 11, 2012 
Contract Signing     Dec 19, 2012 
Draft Plan - Survey and Scenarios   May 1, 2012 
Draft Plan - Preferred Implementation Plan  June 1, 2012 
Final Plan      July 1, 2012 
 
 

7. BASIS OF EVALUATION AND CONTRACT AWARD 
 

The selection of the preferred firm/individual will be based on the following evaluation 
criteria: 
 
1. Demonstrated understanding of the project’s primary purpose and the ability to develop 

an effective project work program and schedule. 
2. Qualifications and relevant experience of the project manager, project staff, and any 

subcontractor(s) identified. 
3. Demonstrated ability and experience in similar projects. 
4. Demonstrated ability and experience in producing innovative and creative project 

results or recommendations, specifically with regard transit planning and 
implementation. 

5. Demonstrated familiarity with comprehensive transit surveys, travel models, socio-
economic data, planning tools, GIS, etc.. 

6. Demonstrated general understanding of the study area. 
7. Number of planned visits and proximity to Columbus. 
8. Professional references from past clients for similar projects. 
9. Demonstrated ability to deliver the project within budget and on-time. 
10. Fee 

 
Interviews with a shortlist of consultants are likely prior to a final selection being made. The 
proposals will be reviewed by a committee of local officials and stakeholders.   

 
8. PROPOSAL SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS 
 

Proposals shall be limited to maximum of 12 pages - 8½ by 11 inches. Interested consultants 
are welcome to team with other firms or add sub-consultants necessary to complete the 
project. All proposals must address all aspects of the project. 
 
1. Firm Information: The name of the firm, its website address, and the location of the 

office from which the work will be completed. If a team of firms or sub-consultants will 
be used, identify all included firms, the lead firm, and the general percentage of work to 
be completed by each firm. 

2. Qualifications: The qualifications of the consultant’s staff members who are proposed 
to complete the project. Include only those staff members who will be active members 
of the project team. Do not include any firm leadership members who will not actively 
participate in the project. 



12 
 

3. Experience: Related and similar projects previously completed by those consultant staff 
members proposed to complete the project. Do not include similar projects completed by 
the consultant, but by different staff members. 

4. Scope of Services Outline: A general outline of the consultant’s proposed scope of 
services that demonstrates the consultant’s understanding of the project, intended overall 
approach, and any unique resources or practices to be applied to the project. 

5. Project Concepts:  Any system design concepts, creative finance concepts, etc. that 
might indicate your knowledge and creativity are welcome in the proposal.   

6. Fee Proposal: A proposed lump sum fee to complete the project. 
7. Timeline: A general timeline for completing the project. 
8. References: Two references for which the consultant has completed similar projects, 

including the title of that project and the reference’s name, address, and phone number 
9. Contact Information: Contact information for the individual to whom questions about 

the proposal should be directed (including a phone number, and e-mail address). 
10. Draft Contract: Given the short time to create a contract, a draft contract can be offered 

by the proposer, although it is not a necessary component of the proposal.  This does not 
count toward the 12 page limit. 

 
Submit To: 
Proposals can be submitted in an electronic format (Microsoft Word or Adobe PDF are the 
preferred formats) to the Columbus Area MPO (CAMPO) at: mpodirector@CAMPO.in.gov 
 
 Please label the attached file or files with the firm name.  The document may also be 
submitted via hardcopy, although this is not necessary, to: 
 
Transit Plan Proposal Review Committee 
c/o Laurence Brown 
CAMPO 
123 Washington Street 
Columbus, IN 47201 
 
Submit By: 
4:00 p.m. EST on December 5, 2012 
 
Contact for Questions: 
Questions about the proposal will be answered at any time up to Dec 3rd at 1:00pm, at which 
time those that have shown an interest in participating can call in or come to a Q & A 
session (City Hall) where we will do our best to present answers to previously asked 
questions and take other questions as well.  Questions can be directed to:  
 
Laurence Brown 
CAMPO 
Phone: 812.376.2502 
E-mail: mpodirector@CAMPO.in.gov  

mailto:mpodirector@CAMPO.in.gov
mailto:mpodirector@CAMPO.in.gov




 
 
 

 300 North Meridian Street 
Suite 1010 

Indianapolis, IN  46204 
Main: 317-972-1706 
Fax:  317-972-1708 

 
www.pbworld.com 

December 5, 2012 
 
 
Mr. Laurence Brown 
Columbus Area Metropolitan Planning Organization 
123 Washington Street 
Columbus, IN 47201 
 
RE:  Response to Request for Proposal, Columbus Transit Improvement & Expansion Plan  

for the City of Columbus Transit Fixed-Route System 
 
Dear Mr. Brown: 

The Columbus Area Metropolitan Planning Organization (CAMPO) plays a vital role in the lives of local 
riders, carrying them from their homes to work, school, shopping, or any number of other everyday 
tasks, and back again safely. Parsons Brinckerhoff recognizes and applauds the significant commitments 
that CAMPO has made to maintaining and improving transportation for the Columbus region. We are 
focused on the success of your region’s transportation system, and have a proven track record in 
planning, designing, and implementing a balanced and integrated set of transportation improvements 
and linkages so that local citizens can better realize the full range of transportation, economic, and land-
use opportunities provided by the ColumBUS transit system. Parsons Brinckerhoff is pleased to have this 
opportunity to bring our expertise to Columbus and help you improve and expand transit throughout 
the metropolitan area.  

Our team understands the time-sensitive nature of your funding requirements and is prepared to assist 
CAMPO in meeting the goals set forth with this study, while also managing limited funds in a responsible 
manner. As you read through our qualifications, we think you will agree that the Parsons Brinckerhoff 
team is the most qualified team to help you balance your short-term needs with a sensible approach 
that will save you money in the long run. From our seasoned Project Manager, Tim Reynolds, AICP, to 
our creative and streamlined approach to meeting the needs of this study, Parsons Brinckerhoff is 
committed to assisting CAMPO and delivering a practical and improved transit plan. 

We are excited about the prospect of assisting CAMPO as you improve the efficiency and effectiveness 
of your service. Should you have any questions concerning our qualifications, please don’t hesitate to 
contact me at (317) 972-1706 or at swangos@pbworld.com. 

Sincerely, 
Parsons Brinckerhoff, Inc. 
 
 
Shelby Swango, PE 
Area Manager 
  



 
 
 
 
 

2 

1. FIRM AND CONTACT INFORMATION 
 

Firm Information 
Parsons Brinckerhoff is a global consulting engineering firm with a history of excellence that spans more 
than a century. Founded in 1885, Parsons Brinckerhoff has an established reputation of providing quality 
services that meet and exceed client needs. We provide a full range of engineering, architectural, 
planning, and construction management services. Parsons Brinckerhoff’s success can be attributed to 
many factors – our commitment to quality, our reputation for technical excellence, the respect of our 
peers, and most important of all is our positive and service oriented attitude toward our clients. The 
depth and breadth of our technical expertise combined with our geographic diversity allow us to 
mobilize our resources to provide clients with efficient services whenever and wherever they are 
needed.  
 
Since then, Parsons Brinckerhoff has demonstrated its commitment to providing full-service 
transportation planning and engineering services for Indiana. Parsons Brinckerhoff in Indiana specializes 
in many aspects of infrastructure planning, design, and construction including transportation planning; 
highway, road, and bridge design; traffic engineering and signal design; environmental services; 
construction services; geotechnical engineering; transit services; and wastewater and stormwater 
management. 
 
The project will be completed from Parsons Brinckerhoff’s Indianapolis and Cincinnati offices. Since 
opening the Indianapolis office in 1997, we have grown to almost 50 professionals. Growth in design 
staff has proceeded deliberately, reflecting a focused strategy emphasizing local experience and the 
right balance of personnel. We continue to demonstrate our commitment to Indiana through the addition 
of key senior staff members, experienced engineers, and technicians. This successful strategy offers a 
core design staff providing superior quality service on our transportation planning, design, and 
construction projects.  
 
Parsons Brinckerhoff continues to attract and retain the best professional staff to meet local needs.  
Occasionally, however, additional expertise may be required to help solve specialty issues as they arise.    
Consistent with the firm’s long-standing philosophy of providing the best professional qualifications to 
every client, we will draw from our vast national resources whenever it is needed, resulting in the ultimate 
success of your project. 

 
Local Office Information 
Parsons Brinckerhoff, Inc. 
300 North Meridian Street, Suite 1010 
Indianapolis, IN 46204 

Website: www.pbworld.com 
 

Contact for Questions 
Shelby Swango, PE 
Vice President/Area Manager 

Phone: (317) 972-1706 

Email: swangos@pbworld.com 

  



 
 
 
 
 

3 

2. QUALIFICATIONS 
 
The key personnel assigned to the study are as follows: 
 

Timothy Reynolds, AICP 
Project Manager 

Tim Reynolds will serve as project manager and have a key 
role in scenario development. Tim has 33 years of experience 
as a transportation and transportation planner, including 15 
years as the Director of Planning and Development for the 
Southwest Ohio Regional Transit Authority in Cincinnati, 
where he managed a Comprehensive Operational Analysis 
and led the agencies innovative MetroMoves long range 
strategic plan. Tim previously served as transit planners for 
MPOs in Wisconsin and Massachusetts. For nine years he 
was a consultant with ATE Management and Service 
Company (now First Transit) where led operational analyses and network studies at over 40 systems of 
various size, ranging from Detroit, Michigan to Janesville, Wisconsin. Since joining Parsons Brinckerhoff, 
Tim has managed the analysis of the four-route system in Middletown, Ohio; developed TOD and urban 
design guidelines for the Abu Dhabi Regional Rail Study in the UAE; and development vehicle 
procurement procedures for the Cincinnati Streetcar project. He is currently the transit planning task 
manager for the North-South Corridor Alternatives Analysis in Indianapolis.  

 

Jennifer Pyrz, PE 
Quality Assurance/Quality Control 

Jennifer Pyrz leads the traffic engineering team for the 
Indianapolis office of Parsons Brinckerhoff. She is a 
supervising civil engineer with experience managing and 
conducting technical work on a variety of projects ranging 
from transit architecture and facility upgrades (HVAC, 
lighting, plumbing) and multimodal planning to environmental 
analyses and traditional traffic analysis. Jennifer has traffic 
engineering and transportation planning experience on traffic 
impact studies, traffic forecasting, parking studies, transit 
studies, transportation plans, traffic analyses, operational 
analyses, and safety audits. Jennifer’s relevant experience 
includes serving as project manager of the Transit Synthesis 
Report, Central Indiana, responsible for review and synthesis 
of existing documentation related to transit in Central Indiana. The final report describes the current 
transit situation in Central Indiana in terms of both capacity and funding and compares both to 
Indianapolis’ peer cities. Future plans are also described in detail, including the status and costs of the 
proposed Northeast Corridor rapid transit line; Parsons Brinckerhoff project manager of the 
Comprehensive Operational Analysis (COA), Indianapolis, Indiana, responsible for overseeing financial 
planning and service/facility planning services of the Indianapolis COA development; and project of the 
North-South Central Corridor Alternatives Analysis, currently underway for the Indianapolis Metropolitan 
Planning Organization, which is investigating mass transit alternatives, including BRT, the 33-mile 
Carmel-Greenwood corridor.  
  

Years Experience: 33 
 
Education 
B.A. Urban Studies, University of 
Connecticut, 1979 
 
Professional Registration 
American Institute of Certified 
Planners  

Years Experience: 16 
 
Education 
M.S., Civil Engineering, Purdue 
University, 1997; B.S., Civil 
Engineering, Purdue University, 
1995 
 
Professional Registrations 
Professional Engineer: Indiana, 
2001 (10001153); Ohio, 2008 
(72943) 
 



 
 
 
 
 

4 

Philip Roth, AICP 
Existing and Future Conditions 

Philip Roth is a supervising planner who recently joined 
Parsons Brinckerhoff after serving for 10 years with the 
Indianapolis Metropolitan Planning Organization (IMPO), 
including eight years as Assistant Director. He also is an 
adjunct faculty member at the Indiana University-Purdue 
University Indianapolis, where he lectures on 
transportation and urban geography. His primary 
experience is in long-range transportation planning and 
all its components, including performance management, 
travel demand forecasting, stakeholder and public 
outreach. He works in TransCAD travel demand 
software, and is experienced with ArcGIS, R and SPSS.  

 
Matthew Orenchuk, PE, AICP 
Planning and Scenario Development 

Matt Orenchuk is a transit planner and senior traffic engineer 
with Parsons Brinckerhoff experienced in transportation 
engineering and planning projects, as well as a focus on 
transit operations planning. He is proficient in HCS 2000 and 
Synchro 7.0 for traffic modeling and signal design; ArcGIS 
10.0 for planning and demographic use; and MicroStation and 
AutoCAD programs for roadway design. Matt’s recent 
assignments serving as senior transit planner for the Central 
Ohio Transit Authority Northeast Corridor Alternatives Analysis, 
Columbus, Ohio; senior transit planner for the METRO Transit 
Master Plan, Akron, Ohio; task manager for transit 
development for the Stark Area Regional Transit Authority 
Transit Development Plan, Canton, Ohio; and senior transit 
planner for the Durham Area Transit Authority Comprehensive 
Operations Analysis, Durham, North Carolina. 

 

Jeffrey Ensor 
Financial Analysis and Evaluation 

Jeff Ensor specializes in federal transportation policies, 
funding strategies, and transportation economics. He 
frequently provides executive-level advisory services to public 
and private entities, particularly in the areas of policy analysis, 
major capital investment plan implementation, and project 
finance. Jeff is also an expert on federal funding programs 
and requirements including funding opportunities through the 
US Department of Transportation (USDOT. His recent efforts 
include leading the TIGER (Transportation Investment Generating Economic Recovery) discretionary 
grant applications for eligible agencies, the results of which secured grant funding for six applications 
(amounting to 20 percent of TIGER funds).  

Years Experience: 9 
 
Education 
M.S., Transportation, 
Massachusetts Institute of 
Technology; B.S., Civil 
Engineering, Washington State 
University 

Years Experience: 23 
 
Education 
PhD, Indiana University-
Bloomington (ABD – 2014); 
Master’s in Regional Planning, 
UNC-Chapel Hill, 1992; B.A., 
Anthropology, Grinnell College, 
1990 
 
Professional Registrations 
American Institute of Certified 
Planners  

Years Experience: 8 
 
Education 
M.U.P.., Urban Planning, 
Transportation Planning, 
University of Michigan; B.S., Civil 
Engineering, University of Notre 
Dame 
 
Professional Registrations 
Professional Engineer: Ohio, 2008 
(73048) 
American Institute of Certified 
Planners  



 
 
 
 
 

5 

3. EXPERIENCE 

Middletown Transit Route Study 
Middletown, Ohio 

The City of Middletown, with a population of 49,000, sought its first comprehensive system plan in over 
15 years. Middletown Transit, operated by the City of Middletown, consists of four route, four bus fixed 
route system with 60 minute service frequency on a pulse schedule on weekdays and Saturdays. Area 
coverage is extensive but based on a series of one-way loops that required time-consuming, out-of-
direction travel for many users. Three major issues influenced the analysis and redesign: 1) the transfer 
hub is not centrally located; instead, the downtown transit terminal is situated on the far western edge of 
the service area, requiring lengthy travel times for passengers to effectively use the system, and 2) the 
route structure, consisting of a series of one-way loops, maximized service coverage at the expense of 
convenient travel, and 3) new commercial and employment growth is along the eastern edge of the city; 
its distance has made it difficult to be served by transit under current conditions. Tim Reynolds served 
as Project Manager and lead planner for the study, which was completed in 2012. 
 
Key Personnel Involved: Tim Reynolds, AICP 
 

Bloomington Transfer Center and Dispatch Center  
Bloomington, Indiana 

Parsons Brinckerhoff provided planning, architectural and engineering services for preliminary 
engineering and final design to the Bloomington Public Transportation Corporation (BPTC) and the City 
of Bloomington (CoB). Design includes the replacement of the existing bus transit center for BPTC and 
collocation of an emergency dispatch center for CoB, Public Safety. Project goals include improving 
transit operations, providing a safe, efficient and aesthetic transit center, and contributing to the vitality 
of the downtown. Several design options were explored via public discussion and breakout groups, as a 
way to reach consensus on a preferred solution.  
 
Key Personnel Involved: Jennifer Pyrz, PE 
 

Richmond Transportation Plan – Transit Operations Analysis 
Richmond, Indiana 

In 2010, Parsons Brinckerhoff was retained by LSL Planning to assist with a Transportation Plan for the 
City of Richmond, a small city located east of Indianapolis on I-70, near the Indiana/Ohio border. As a 
part of the larger plan, a transit analysis for Roseview Transit (Richmond’s transit provider) was 
prepared, with Parsons Brinckerhoff acting as a subconsultant to LSL Planning. The transit analysis 
focused on Roseview Transit’s six existing, fixed bus routes that operate in the Richmond area. The 
existing conditions analysis included demographic mapping of the city, an origin-destination survey, and 
an on-site route analysis. In addition, during the on-site visit meetings were held with local stakeholders 
from Earlham College, Ivy Tech, and local senior groups. Each piece of information was used to 
determine the existing transit market and how well Roseview’s existing transit service serves key 
destinations. Recommendations were then made for three goals for the system: keep the system viable 
for existing riders, make changes to help attract additional riders to the system, and improve operations 
to reduce emissions and fuel consumption.  
 
Key Personnel Involved: Matt Orenchuk, PE, AICP 
  



 
 
 
 
 

6 

4. SCOPE OF SERVICES 
 

Project Understanding 
CAMPO is seeking a comprehensive analysis of the City of Columbus’ ColumBUS transit system; the last 
analysis was conducted in 2005. Since that time, the city has expanded outward and grown inward as 
well, with continued enhancement of downtown and surrounding areas. The city’s demographic and 
employment composition continues to shift as well.  
 
The ColumBUS network is relatively traditional, consisting of a four-bus, four-route radial pulse system 
centered on the transit depot in the southwestern portion of the city. Geographical coverage is extensive 
but not comprehensive, as it does not extend west of the Flatrock River, where new commercial and 
residential development has occurred. Routes tend to consist of a series of interlocking one-way loops—
this design allows for good service coverage but can come at the expense of direct and convenient 
travel. The ColumBUS depot is far removed not only from the walkable downtown core, but from the 
geographical center of the city. A de facto central hub is located at the Target store, which helps 
improve the availability of shorter and more direct trips, but features no passenger amenities and no 
guarantee of permanent use by ColumBUS. Pedestrian and bicyclist connections to transit exist but may 
require improvement to maximize the utility of the bus system. 
 
A series of funding level and service expansion scenarios has already been crafted and will be 
evaluated as part of this study. These scenarios will help inform detailed system alternatives. In addition, 
CAMPO is seeking to integrate resource allocation for mass transit within the context of the regional 
transportation plan and related process to allocate limited financial resources for all forms of 
transportation, not just roadways. Meaningful and ongoing user, operator, public and stakeholder 
involvement is essential throughout the plan development process. 
 

Project Organization 
Efficient project organization is essential 
to the success of the project. It helps 
deliver effective quality control and lines 
of communication (between CAMPO and 
the consulting team and within the 
consulting team itself), along with clear 
delineation of responsibilities. 
 
  



 
 
 
 
 

7 

General Project Approach 
After careful review of the scope of work in the Request for Proposal (RFP), we have incorporated all 
elements of work but reorganized the sequence to maximize efficiencies based on Parsons 
Brinckerhoff’s past experience with similar projects. Proposed work tasks are based on our thorough 
understanding of services needed, available funding, and desired schedule. 
 
Task 1: Project Kickoff 
The Parsons Brinckerhoff project manager and key team members will meet with the CTIEP Steering 
Committee to discuss the role of the Steering Committee, project goals and objectives, establish 
contacts and relationships, obtain data (including budgets, capital plan and fleet replacement 
schedule), identify stakeholders, and refine the project schedule. Project initiation is also an opportunity 
to meet with the ColumBUS Transit Advisory Committee, which includes rider representatives and can 
provide insights and stakeholder/data contacts. 
 
Consultant staff will meet separately with ColumBUS staff, including drivers, through a combination of 
one-on-one and group meetings. Drivers in particular are an important source of information and ideas, 
as they constitute the front line of service. ColumBUS will be asked to set up convenient and efficient 
meeting times to meet with drivers. 
 
Task 2: On-Board Passenger Count and Schedule Adherence Check 
Parsons Brinckerhoff will conduct a 100% boarding and alighting count and schedule adherence check 
of weekday activity on the four fixed routes. ColumBUS will be asked to develop and/or provide lists of 
bus stops on each route for the outbound and inbound segments. Parsons Brinckerhoff staff will 
administer, conduct, tabulate and analyze the count and check. This will help ensure quality and 
accuracy. The count/check will be conducted over a two day period to create a representative weekday 
in Spring 2013. Although dependent on the weather, a March count is suggested as the information is 
essential for the design portion of the study. 
 
A smart phone app is proposed for obtain accurate schedule adherence data in an efficient and cost 
effective manner. Ridership and schedule adherence reports will be prepared and submitted to CAMPO 
in tabular and GIS format to identify ons/offs by stop/trip; load factor by stop; number and location of 
boardings by persons with wheelchair or with bicycles; comparison of scheduled vs. actual time at 
timepoints; and activity by route segment. Analysis of the impact of the time necessary to accomplish 
boardings and alightings of persons with disabilities using wheelchairs, as well as the adequacy of 
scheduled layover/recovery time, will be included. 
 
Task 3: Customer Survey 

 Concurrent with the conduct of the on-board passenger count (Task 2), a survey will be conducted of 
ColumBUS passengers. A self-administered survey will be distributed and collected by the on-board 
passenger count personnel, and assistance will be provided as necessary. A one-page survey 
instrument will be prepared and submitted to CAMPO for review and approval. The survey will be 
conducted on all trips and form a representative and valid sample for each route. 

 
 The survey will focus on existing transit usage habits and preferences, including basic demographic 

characteristics, O-D, trip purpose and frequency, transferring, opinions on current service and potential 
improvements/expansion, and passenger amenity and technical improvement enhancements. 
ColumBUS will be asked to promote the survey prior to its conduct to foster awareness and acceptance 
of the survey. The results will be tabulated and summarized by route and for the system as a whole, with 
relevant cross-tabulations as appropriate. 

 



 
 
 
 
 

8 

Task 4: Transit Service Metrics 
In addition to the results of the on-board passenger count and schedule adherence check (Task 2) 
service parameter data will be obtained from ColumBUS and system timetables to develop service 
metrics on a systemwide and route-by-route basis, including average passengers per trip, revenue mile 
and revenue hour; farebox recovery and subsidy per passenger. Profiles of each route will be prepared, 
including service metrics, area served, demographics, and major activity centers. 

  
Task 5: Service Area Profile 
A transit propensity analysis, using US Census and American Community Survey data, will be 
conducted to illustrate in map form the demographic characteristics of the Columbus area, including 
various factors that relate to actual and potential transit use, including age, employment status, 
household income, auto ownership, population levels and population density. 
 
This analysis will be included in a service area profile that will identify major employment centers, major 
activity centers. The profile maps will be overlaid with the ColumBUS network map as well as major 
ridership activity locations as identified in the passenger count (Task 2). Additional background data, 
including review of CAMPO’s Regional Transportation Plan, Transportation Improvement Plan, and 
Central Avenue Corridor Study, will be reviewed. The service area profile will identify what areas and 
activity centers served by ColumBUS as well as areas, such as neighborhoods, employment centers, 
commercial areas, and other significant activity centers, not served by ColumBUS. 
 
Task 6: Pedestrian Facility Coordination 
Parsons Brinckerhoff will coordinate with the concurrent CAMPO project that will result in a GIS layer of 
citywide sidewalks and related pedestrian connections. As part on the on-board passenger count and 
survey, route segments that lack sidewalk access to bus stops will be identified. Where possible, bus 
stops that lack a paved or defined connection between the passenger waiting area and curb and 
between the bus stop and primary destination served (i.e., an on-street stop serving a shopping center 
that requires a walk through a parking lot) will be identified. Parsons Brinckerhoff will provide the 
consultant responsible for the sidewalk analysis with all relevant data collected as part of the transit 
study, including the stop-by-stop passenger count.  
 
Task 7: Outreach 
The on-board passenger survey is an important outreach tool; however, it is important to solicit the 
opinions and reaction of the community at-large, whether or not its members use ColumBUS. Bus riders 
are not the only customers of ColumBUS. As subsidized operation, taxpayers are customers of 
ColumBUS as well. The outreach effort will focus on the business community and public at-large. 
 
The Transit Advisory Committee will be asked to assist in the identification of potential outreach venues 
and key stakeholders. 
 
To solicit input and participation from the business community in an efficient manner, a two-hour 
stakeholder forum is proposed. A list of business and community leaders, and identification of a suitably 
convenient meeting location will be developed with the help of CAMPO, ColumBUS, the Transit Advisory 
Committee and others. The forum can be facilitated either by CAMPO or Parsons Brinckerhoff staff. The 
Columbus area chamber of commerce of equivalent organization will be asked to help encourage 
attendance by key members. One-on-one meetings or surveys will also be sought with key major 
employers such as Cummins. 
 
To solicit broad-based input and participation among the public at-large, Parsons Brinckerhoff will 
employ an on-line survey instrument such as Survey Monkey for posting on the City of Columbus, 



 
 
 
 
 

9 

Bartholomew County and CAMPO websites, as well as other websites that are referred by these key 
entities and are agreeable act as hosts. Use of social media such as Facebook is also proposed. The 
key entities will be asked to promote use of the survey. To encourage maximum communication, a press 
release will be prepared to help publicize the survey in local media.  
 
The survey questions will be prepared and submitted to CAMPO for review and approval. Parsons 
Brinkerhoff will tabulate and analyze the results. 
 
In addition, Parsons Brinckerhoff will conduct two public open houses to present the information 
collected and analyzed up to this point in the study at a convenient location and time based on 
discussions with CAMPO and ColumBUS. The first open house will designed to educate citizens on 
ColumBUS service and ask for their ideas on service improvement and potential expansion. The second 
will be conducted to solicit public input on the draft service plan recommendations. 
 
Task 8: Travel Model Coordination 
The Columbus regional travel model currently does not account for transit; however, this is currently 
being rectified as part of an update of the model. Parsons Brinckerhoff will coordinate with the consultant 
responsible for the model and provide the data from the on-off count, schedule adherence check, and 
on-board passenger survey. Parsons Brinckerhoff will conduct a general review of the model to 
determine if any components or outputs are relevant to this study, including potential origin-destination 
patterns/volumes on a TAZ level.  
 
Task 9: Development of Alternative Service Scenarios 
A four step process will be used to develop service and capital improvement scenarios: 
 

1) System and route plans: Using the data and community input received and analyzed to 
date, up to three service scenarios will be developed. These will take into consideration the 
service ideas and concepts already developed by ColumBUS, which include additional service 
hours, improved frequency, new routes (including the city’s areas west of the contiguous portion 
of the City of Columbus, and a central hub or dual hub concept. Industry-standard elasticity 
formulas will be used to develop ridership estimates. In addition, other service scenarios will be 
considered. These include an evaluation of the appropriateness of potential Bus Rapid Transit-
type services and route deviation service. Parsons Brinckerhoff will also draw upon its national 
experience and suggest additional programs and activities designed to boost awareness of 
transit including, but not limited to, improved signage, advertising, and promotions. 
 

2) Cost estimates: The operating costs of the scenarios will be determined, based on an 
assessment of ColumBUS’s financial model/formulas. In addition, capital cost estimates will be 
developed for improved passenger amenities, bus replacement and potential fleet expansion, 
major pedestrian connectivity improvements, and transit hubs. 
 

3) Revenue and implementation considerations: With an eye toward implementing 
service improvements by the end of 2013, Parsons Brinckerhoff will assess the future direction of 
ColumBUS’s current, traditional funding sources, including an analysis of unexpended federal 
funds that could be used to implement service improvements. Parsons Brinkerhoff will review 
potential alternative funding sources based on its nationwide and equivalent system experience, 
including university pass programs, a charitable foundation to provide fares to low income 
persons, employer/employee pass programs, and additional federal funding opportunities such 
as STP dollars that can potentially be flexed to transit.  

 



 
 
 
 
 

10 

4) Program of projects: A program of projects and implementation schedule will be developed 
to allow the Steering Committee to pick and choose service improvement components that are 
identified as high, medium or low priorty.  
 

Task 10: Transportation Prioritization Metrics 
Parsons Brinckerhoff will assess the current prioritization process for transportation investments in the 
Columbus area. Metrics, including benefit-cost will be suggested that will allow decision-makers to 
understand the impacts of investment allocation and place transit on a more equal footing with non-
transit transportation investments.  
Task 11: Reports and Presentations 
Parsons Brinckerhoff will fully document all findings and recommendations in an attractive, user-friendly 
report. A draft report will be prepared and 30 printed copies, plus an electronic version, will be 
submitted. Additionally, a fold-out summary of the findings and draft recommendations will be prepared; 
30 printed copies will be submitted along with an electronic version. 
 
A public meeting under the auspices of CAMPO will be conducted at this stage of the study. Parsons 
Brinckerhoff staff will be available to present the findings and recommendations. Public input on the 
service and implementation scenarios will be solicited. 
 
Following the public meeting and review of the draft report by the Steering Committee, Parsons 
Brinckerhoff will prepare and submit a final report.  
 
Task 12: Plan Implementation 
Parsons Brinckerhoff will provide up to ten hours per months for a six month period to assist local staff in 
the implementation of the plan. 
 

5. PROJECT CONCEPTS 

Innovative and successful concepts and practices achieved by Parsons Brinckerhoff include the 
following: 
 
Middletown Transit Route Study 
Middletown, Ohio 

The short range plan was based on existing resources and recommended alignment revisions that 
reduced the amount of out-of-direction, one-way travel. In particular, it provided a new bi-directional 
connection between the downtown terminal and the Miami University-Middletown campus. It also 
provided more direct service for senior citizens to shopping areas on the city’s east side. The long range 
plan recommended the addition of two routes (two buses), creation of a second transfer facility in the 
geographic center of Middletown, and a higher frequency main line connecting the two hubs. The dual 
hub concept is designed to expand coverage, allow for more convenient bi-directional service, and 
reduce passenger travel times. 
 
Bloomington Transfer Center and Dispatch Center 
Bloomington, Indiana 

BPTC initially requested a solution to provide for 15 bus bays. During the design workshop process, a 
preferred solution was identified that can accommodate the required number of standard buses, and up 
to five additional buses when integrating smaller vehicles from BPTC and Rural Transit existing fleets. 
Additionally, specific bus bays have been identified to accommodate articulated buses should BPTC’s 



 
 
 
 
 

11 

future needs require adding articulated buses to their fleet. Materials, finishes and spatial organization 
will complement the existing context of the community, make use of regionally available resources, and 
effort to inspire new development in the area through innovation. In addition to core transit functions 
within the transfer facility including entry, enclosed waiting area, public restrooms, information, ticketing 
and operational functions for BPTC. The facility will also house a training center for BPTC, additional 
administrative facilities and opportunities for retail functions. Separate from the transit center program, 
but integrated into the facility will be a collocated emergency dispatch center that will serve the needs of 
City of Bloomington Public Safety divisions. This project is designed to achieve LEED Silver Certification 
from USGBC. 
 

Richmond Transportation Plan – Transit Operations Analysis 
Richmond, Indiana 

Route changes were recommended to help better connect riders to the growing Chester Boulevard 
corridor. Other recommendations focused on kneeling or low-floor buses which would help with 
Roseview Transit’s disabled and senior population. Finally, longer-term recommendations included the 
investigation of a student pass so that Ivy Tech/IU East/Earlham College students could ride the system 
for free or reduced fare. This could help grow the number of riders and expand Roseview Transit’s reach 
within the city. 
 
6. FEE PROPOSAL 

Given that CAMPO has allocated $45,000 to complete this study, Parsons Brinckerhoff would 
recommend allocating this amount according to the work tasks as follows: 
 

TASK APPROXIMATE FEE APPROXIMATE HOURS 
1: Project Kickoff $2,700 16 
2: Passenger/Schedule Check $7,600 40 
3: Customer Survey $1,400 8 
4: Transit Service Metrics $1,300 4 
5: Service Area Profile $1,900 12 
6: Pedestrian Study Coordination $600 4 
7: Outreach $5,000 24 
8: Travel Model Coordination $300 2 
9: Service Scenarios $6,600 40 
10: Prioritization Metrics $600 4 
11: Reports and Presentations $8,000 40 
12: Implementation Support $9,000 60 
 
Parsons Brinkerhoff proposes a lump sum fee of $45,000, and anticipates that a period of negotiation 
would follow consultant selection, with the opportunity to refine this distribution according to CAMPO’s 
needs. 
  



 
 
 
 
 

12 

7. TIMELINE 
 
Based on a mid-December contract signing and project kick-off, Parsons Brinckerhoff will complete the 
project by July 1, 2013, as per the schedule outlined in the RFP. This will be followed by a six-month 
implementation assistance period. The proposed schedule broken down by task is as follows: 
 
TASK DEC 

2012 
JAN 
2013 

FEB 
2013 

MAR 
2013 

APR 
2013 

MAY 
2013 

JUN 
2013 

JUL 
2013 

AUG 
2013 

SEP 
2013 

OCT 
2013 

NOV 
2013 

DEC 
2013 

1              
2              
3              
4              
5              
6              
7              
8              
9              
10              
11              
12              

 

8. REFERENCES 
 
Middletown Transit Route Study 
Doug Adkins, Director of Community Revitalization 
City of Middletown, Ohio 
One Donham Plaza, Middletown, OH 45042 
Phone: (513) 425-1856  
Email: douga@cityofmiddletown.org 
 

Bloomington Transfer Center and Dispatch Center 
Lew May, General Manager 
Bloomington Public Transportation Corporation 
130 West Grimes Lane, Bloomington, IN 47403  
Phone: (812) 336-7433 
Email: mayl@bloomingtontransit.com  
 

Richmond Transportation Plan 
Brad Strader, President 
LSL Planning, Inc. 
306 S. Washington, Ste. 400, Royal Oak, MI 48067 
Phone: (248) 586-0505 
Email: strader@lslplanning.com 
 

Scott Zimmerman, City Planner 
City of Richmond, Indiana 
50 North 5th Street, Richmond, IN 47374 
Phone: (765) 983-7343 
Email: szimmerman@richmondindiana.gov  



1 
 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL 
FOR A COLUMBUS BICYCLE & PEDESTRIAN PLAN EXPANSION 

 
1. General 
 
Date of issue: November 21, 2012 

Proposal due date: December 6, 2012, 4:00 P.M., local time. 

Contracting agency: CAMPO – Columbus Are Metropolitan Planning Organization 
   123 Washington St. 
   Columbus, Indiana  47201 
 
Funding: This project is financed through grants from the Federal government, and any contract entered 
into is subject to the provisions of applicable laws governing that grant.  The successful proposer and all 
subcontractors shall be required to comply with all applicable federal, state, and local laws and 
regulations.   

 
2. Background 

 
The City of Columbus is a small city of about 45,000 people.  It is a flat, compact city, with some remote 
developments that have been annexed into the city.  Columbus has a long history of providing excellent 
bicycling facilities.  Columbus has a trail system called the “People Trail,” which is 18 miles of mostly 
exclusive, paved, multiuse paths.  Also, Columbus has a wonderfully designed bike path that attaches a 
relatively remote parts of town, West Hill/Tipton Lakes, to the downtown virtually without crossing any 
streets, yet negotiating its way under an interstate.    

More recently, initiated by strong interest in the community and a citizen-led Bicycle and Pedestrian 
Committee, the city created the Columbus, Indiana Bicycle & Pedestrian Plan.   The initial work of the 
plan was completed by the Bicycle and Pedestrian Committee and was then handed off to the Planning 
and Engineering Departments, who completed the plan in-house. The plan was adopted by the City 
Council in 2010 as an element of the comprehensive plan.  Since its adoption, the city has made 
significant progress on the implementation (see attached map).   

In addition, the county has an active Safe Routes to School Committee and a Safe Routes to School Plan 
has been completed for 9 Bartholomew Consolidated School Corporation schools.  Currently, a People 
Trail Campaign is underway to raise $1,000,000 to leverage federal, local, and private funding of 
approximately $5,000,000 toward 18 specific People Trail expansion projects and other bicycle and 
pedestrian infrastructure improvements in the city.  In 2012, the city was designated as a Bronze Bike-
Friendly City by the League of America Bicyclists.   

Based on the 2010 Bicycle and Pedestrian Survey (1,149 respondents) and the 2010 Bicycle and 
Pedestrian Plan Open House (60+ attendees); one of the community’s top priorities is to create a livable 
city with bicycle and pedestrian facilities.  Data shows that creating a city that is safe for biking entices a 
growth in bicycling, which calms traffic, reduces crashes for every mode, reduced congestion, improves 
public health, livability and quality of life.    

The Columbus, Indiana Bicycle & Pedestrian Plan is the starting block for the continued improvement and 
expansion of the bicycle and pedestrian system, as stated therein: 

http://www.columbus.in.gov/linkservid/697D53A2-1231-3D16-E9005479F4F977E6/showMeta/0/
http://www.columbus.in.gov/linkservid/E425E2D5-BC30-5BDD-7FF832FFD96DB0D3/showMeta/0/


2 
 

“It is anticipated that this plan will require revisions and modifications as projects are 
implemented and as conditions change. This plan should be reviewed and updated as 
related plans, transportation projects, and facility needs evolve.” (Bike & Ped Plan, p 7)  
 

3. Purpose of this Study 
 
The purpose of this RFP is to expand the menu and scope of the existing bicycle and pedestrian 
transportation plan.  

To put this in context, we have noted that Columbus has been designated as a Bicycle-Friendly 
Community by the League of American Bicyclists at the Bronze level.  There are three higher levels: 
Silver, Gold and Platinum.  One cannot really know the exact criteria to meet these levels; it is determined 
by the League staff, but the current plan, once completed, might bring the community to a Silver level.  

While there are only three Platinum communities in the US, there are many cities approaching this level, 
or striving for it.  Portland, Oregon, which is one of three Platinum cities has seen a 5-fold increase in 
bicycling over the last 20 years, which has culminated in a 10% bike-to-work mode share, a 16% 
reduction in car crashes, a reduction in miles-driven per person, and a reputation for being the healthiest, 
most livable city in the US.  A 16% reduction in crashes in Columbus is about 400 crashes/year. Although 
a thorough count has not been performed, Columbus is probably around a 2% bike-to-work mode share. 

It is not necessarily a goal of the city to be Platinum, but this RFP seeks an individual or firm that would 
help develop project concepts and costs that would likely bring the community to these advanced levels 
of bicycle friendliness that culminate into these health, safety and quality-of-life benefits.  

To get there from where we are today, this RFP focuses on the following three items: 

1) Expand on the Columbus, Indiana Bicycle & Pedestrian Plan: The plan was completed in 2010 
and at that time was envisioned to be expanded in the future.  It is important to note that this 
request is to use the plan and expand on it, rather than starting new.   

2) One-way Street Study:  Identify and research the city’s one-way streets, primarily downtown, to 
consider if changing the one-way into two-way would bring value to the bicycle and pedestrian 
environment along with other benefits two-way streets bring.  

3) Sidewalk and Pedestrian Facilities: Review existing GIS City sidewalk and pedestrian data. 
Recommend parameters for future data collection. Create a GIS layer based on existing data that 
best reflects the current pedestrian environment. Determine gaps in pedestrian access, and 
prioritizing pedestrian projects accordingly.  

4. Scope of Work 

Prospective consultants are encouraged to establish their own methodologies for achieving study 
objectives and purposes.  Consultants you can propose good reasons (like cost) as to why they would 
suggest something else that would provide equal or better value. Proposals may be generalized, but 
should address the following objectives and issues. 

Columbus, Indiana Bicycle & Pedestrian Plan expansion:  The following should be addressed: 

1) Identify non-construction (painted) Bike/Ped Facilities – Locations for and types of bike/ped 
facilities, such as bike lanes, counterflow bike lanes, sharrows, bike boxes, crosswalks, and 
bicycle routes. 
 



3 
 

2) Identify constructed Bike/Ped Facilities – Locations for and types of bike/ped facilities, such as 
bump-outs, traffic calming, speed tables, pedestrian refuge islands, diverters, cycletracks, Hawk 
light locations, signal improvements. 
 

3) Identify Bike Boulevard possibilities – Bike boulevards are streets that are design to discourage 
through movement of cars, and are usually outfitted with calming devices so that cars move 
slowly.  Determine what streets could work for a bike boulevard and what treatments are 
appropriate. 
 

4) Propose Specific Improvements:  Identify key streets or intersections that need improvement and 
propose specific redesigns to incorporate bicycle and pedestrian transportation.  
 

5) Prioritize projects:  Develop a priority list of projects based on the best benefit/cost ratio, where 
the benefit is associated with the level of improvement in safety and convenience, factored with 
the number of users or potential for users (if it is along a high-traffic corridor). 
 

6) Goals, policies, metrics: Consider policies, ordinances, metrics, evaluation methods, educational 
strategies, marketing concepts, and community goals: bike-friendliness, crash reductions, bike-
commute rates, etc., so we know where we are going, and how to get there, and how to measure 
our success.  

 
One-way Street Study:    One-way streets were commonly created in the 60s to allow fast entry and exit 
between employment centers and suburban locations.  Throughout the US, these are being changed 
back to two-way street to slow the traffic down and make the street more neighborhood friendly. Two-way 
streets often make better environments for bikes and pedestrians and reduce driving distances because 
vehicles can go more directly to their destinations. 
 

1) Identify One-way Streets:  Study the street dimensions, on-street parking, traffic counts (we can 
do them), determine their function in the transportation system and identify the possible effects if 
changed to two-way. 
 

2) Identify the Streets Ideal for Two-way:  Identify the streets with the most potential to change into 
two-way and the concomitant benefits or disbenefits that might result from that change.   

 
Sidewalk and Pedestrian Facilities:    
  

1) Sidewalk Inventory:  This is a GIS layer of the entire city that contains the geometry of the 
sidewalks, their condition, the condition of the pedestrian environment, and whatever else would 
be useful.  This data is also needed for the transit study that is also being done in parallel with 
this work.  Communication with the transit consultant on this will be necessary to avoid 
duplication.  There is a GIS layer of sidewalks that is partially done, but it needs improved.  There 
is also a substantial amount of sidewalk inventory data in a spreadsheet that has not yet been 
geo-located.  These will both be available to the consultant. No field work should be needed for 
this.  If there is, it can be done by city staff.  This is not meant to be a major part (cost) of this 
RFP.  
 

2) Connector paths: Many homes are in close proximity to destinations as the crow flies, but walking 
and biking to these areas require long trips due to poor street connectivity and cul-de-sacs.  
These areas should be identified and solution alternatives considered.  

 
3) A map should be developed that indicates where there are gaps in pedestrian accessibility and 

what improvements are recommended. This should be based on pedestrian level of service, level 
of demand or potential demand (transit access is important), and gaps of access. Quantitative 
analyses using ‘gravity’ models and quantified levels of service are favored.  

 
Public Participation:  As needed, public meetings will need to occur regularly throughout this process to 
get public input and determine support.  For public meetings maps and displays may be needed.  City 



4 
 

staff will be available to work with consultant to develop exhibits and all printing for these meetings can be 
done by city staff. Proposals should discuss the number of visits and availability. 
 
City and MPO Staff:  City staff should be used as a resource and can be solicited to prepare meetings 
and gather data as needed.   
 
Bicycle and Pedestrian Plan Implementation Committee:  This committee meets quarterly at this time, but 
can meet more frequently to expedite this project.  The committee will be consulted in directing this work.  
 
Final Deliverables:  Preparing an update of the Bicycle and Pedestrian Plan document can be a joint 
effort of the consultant and the city, MPO staff, and the committee.  The substance of the consultant’s 
work is to provide assistance to the MPO, Planning and Engineering staff on possible, high-value bicycle 
and pedestrian infrastructure ideas.  Proposals should discuss this, and it will be negotiated in the 
contract.  
 
5. BUDGET 
 
A total of $30,000 is budgeted for the total project.  Each proposer shall propose a fixed dollar amount for 
the total project in order to successfully complete the project according to the scope of work 
 
6. PROJECT SCHEDULE 
 
Issue Requests for Proposals    Nov 21, 2012 
Q & A for RFP         Dec 4, 2012 
Proposals due      Dec 6, 2012 
Selection of consultant     Dec 10, 2012 
Contract Draft      Dec 13, 2012 
Contract Signing     Dec 19, 2012 
Draft - GIS Sidewalk inventory    April 1, 2012 
Draft – one-way / two-way study    May 1, 2012 
Draft Plan Update     June 1, 2012 
Final Plan      July 1, 2012 
 
 
7. BASIS OF EVALUATION AND CONTRACT AWARD 
 
The selection of the preferred firm/individual will be based on the following evaluation criteria: 
 

1. Demonstrated in-depth understanding of bike/ped infrastructure and policy. 
2. Qualifications and relevant experience of the project leader & subcontractor(s) identified.  
3. Demonstrated ability and experience in similar projects. 
4. Demonstrated ability and experience in producing innovative and creative project results or 

recommendations, specifically with regard bike infrastructure.  
5. Demonstrated familiarity with GIS database development, travel models, socio-economic data, 

planning tools, etc.. 
6. Demonstrated general understanding of the study area. 
7. Number of planned visits and proximity to Columbus. 
8. Professional references from past clients for similar projects. 
9. Demonstrated ability to deliver the project within budget and on-time. 
10. Fee 

 
Interviews with a shortlist of consultants are likely prior to a final selection being made. The proposals will 
be reviewed by a committee of local officials and stakeholders.   
 
 
 
 



5 
 

8. Proposal Submittal Requirements 
 
Proposals shall be limited to maximum of 10 pages - 8½ by 11 inches. Interested consultants are 
welcome to team with other firms or add sub-consultants necessary to complete the project. All proposals 
must address all aspects of the project. 
 

1. Firm Information: The name of the firm, its website address, and the location of the office from 
which the work will be completed. If a team of firms or sub-consultants will be used, identify all 
included firms, the lead firm, and the general percentage of work to be completed by each firm. 

2. Qualifications: The qualifications of the consultant’s staff members who are proposed to complete 
the project. Include only those staff members who will be active members of the project team. Do 
not include any firm leadership members who will not actively participate in the project. 

3. Experience: Related and similar projects previously completed by those consultant staff members 
proposed to complete the project. 

4. Scope of Services Outline: A general outline of the consultant’s proposed scope of services that 
demonstrates the consultant’s understanding of the project, intended overall approach, and any 
unique resources or practices to be applied to the project. 

5. Project Concepts:  Any design concepts, policy concepts that might indicate your knowledge, 
creativity and direction are welcome in the proposal.   

6. Fee Proposal: A proposed lump sum fee to complete the project. 

7. Timeline: A general timeline for completing the project. 

8. References: Two references for which the consultant has completed similar projects, including the 
title of that project and the reference’s name, address, and phone number 

9. Contact Information: Contact information for the individual to whom questions about the proposal 
should be directed (including a phone number, and e-mail address). 

10. Draft Contract: Given the short time to create a contract, a draft contract can be offered by the 
proposer, although it is not a necessary component of the proposal.  This does not count toward 
the 10 page limit. 

 
Submit To: 
Proposals can be submitted in an electronic format (Microsoft Word or Adobe PDF are the preferred 
formats) to the Columbus Area MPO (CAMPO) at: mpodirector@CAMPO.in.gov 
 
 Please label the attached file or files with the firm name.  The document may also be submitted via 
hardcopy, although this is not necessary, to: 
 
Bike/Ped Plan Proposal Review Committee 
c/o Laurence Brown,  CAMPO 
123 Washington Street 
Columbus, IN 47201 
 
Submit By:      4:00 p.m. EST on December 6, 2012 
 
Contact for Questions: 
Questions about the proposal will be answered at any time up to Dec 4rd at 1:00pm, at which time those 
that have shown an interest in participating can call in or come to a Q & A session (City Hall) where we 
will do our best to present answers to previously asked questions and take other questions as well.  
Questions can be directed to:  
 
Laurence Brown, CAMPO Director 
Phone: 812.376.2502 
E-mail: mpodirector@CAMPO.in.gov  

mailto:mpodirector@CAMPO.in.gov
mailto:mpodirector@CAMPO.in.gov


submitted by

 Rundell eRnstbeRgeR AssociAtes, llc

in association with

6 December 2012

proposal

bicycle And pedestRiAn 
plAn expAnsion

prepared for 

columbus Area 
Metropolitan planning organization

L A N D  P L A N N I N G  +  U R B A N  D E S I G N  +  L A N D S C A P E  A R C H I T E C T U R E

Active Transportation Planners + Engineers



A
N

D
 P

L
A

N
N

IN
G

  
+

  
U

R
B

A
N

 D
E

S
IG

N
  

+
  

L
A

N
D

S
C

A
P

E
 A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

T
U

R
E

  
+

  
L

A
N

D
 P

L
A

N
N

IN
G

  
+

  
U

R
B

A
N

 D
E

S
IG

N
  

+
  

L
A

N
D

S
C

A
P

E
 A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

T
U

R
E

  
+

  
L

A
N

D
 P

L
A

N
N

IN
G

  
+

  
U

R
B

A
N

 D
E

S
IG

N
  

 
L

A
N

D
S

C
A

P
E

 A
R

C
H

IT
E

C
 

o r i g i n  

RUNDELL ERNSTBERGER ASSOCIATES , LLC  em a i l  i n t e r n e t  rea indy@reas i te .com www.reas i te .com

I N D I A N A P O L I S

6 1 8  E .  M A R K E T  S T R E E T     I N D I A N A P O L I S ,  I N D I A N A  4 6 2 0 2     T E  [ 3 1 7 ]  2 6 3 . 0 1 2 7     F X  [ 3 1 7 ]  2 6 3 . 2 0 8 0  
M U N C I E  O F F I C E :    T E  [ 7 6 5 ]  7 4 7 . 9 7 3 7    F X  [ 7 6 5 ]  7 4 7 . 5 0 5 3  

16 November 2012 
 
Mr. Laurence Brown 
Director 
CAMPO 
123 Washington Street 
Columbus, IN 47201 
 
re:  Bicycle & Pedestrian Plan Expansion | Columbus, IN 
 
Dear Laurence:

On behalf of our team, Rundell Ernstberger Associates, LLC, (REA) is pleased to submit this letter of 
interest for active transportation planning services for the Bicycle & Pedestrian Plan Expansion in 
Columbus, IN.  We are excited about the opportunity to assist Columbus in their goal of a more 
livable, sustainable, healthy, and connected community through the creation of a collective vision 
for innovative pedestrian and bicycle infrastructure improvements.   

The RFP calls for a design team that has extensive experience in the areas of active transportation, 
best practice pedestrian and bicycle facility planning and design, traffic data analysis and 
engineering, sustainable infrastructure, and public participation in the planning process.  The 
locally-led team we have assembled possesses unparalleled expertise in each of these key areas, 
has worked together on similar projects, and represents a complete package of planning, design, 
and engineering expertise ideal for this undertaking.  

Our team’s exceptional knowledge of the project area, extensive local transportation experience, 
history of community input, successful implementation of award-winning projects, and proven 
technical expertise are perfectly aligned with the project's goals of increasing community 
connectivity, pedestrian and bicyclist safety and mobility, and attaining an advanced level of bicycle 
friendliness – all of which are key to laying the groundwork for a healthy and livable community.  

REA will lead the planning and design effort from our Indianapolis office.  Our firm is comprised of 
seasoned and visionary professionals that have been recognized nationally for our design and built 
works, have significant transportation and sustainable infrastructure planning experience, and have 
a proven track record of transformational placemaking directly linked to community revitalization 
and economic development. Upon a review of the enclosed materials, you will find that we have a 
long history of leading multi-disciplinary teams to deliver large-scale, complex projects on time, on 
budget, and with design creativity that is without equal.  

Sprinkle Consulting, Inc. will lead the bicycle and pedestrian planning efforts.  Sprinkle is an 
award-winning nationwide planning and engineering firm serving communities throughout North 
America in all aspects of bicycle and pedestrian transportation.  Their staff is highly sought after as 
consultants, researchers, and practitioners of cutting-edge methods and technologies to provide 
innovative solutions to the integration of bicyclists and pedestrians in transportation networks. With 
an unparalleled portfolio of similar projects across the country, Sprinkle brings national perspective 
and expertise to this project.    

Enclosed you will find profiles of each member of our team, our key qualifications, relevant project 
experience, an outline of our work plan, and proposed compensation.  Laurence, we appreciate the 
opportunity to participate in this project and welcome the chance to work in tandem CAMPO to 
create a visionary, transformative, and fully implementable plan. 

Respectfully, 

 
Kevin Osburn, PLA, ASLA 

1



Rundell eRnstbeRgeR AssociAtes, llc

IndIanapolIs, In  |  MuncIe, In   |  louIsVIlle, ky  |  www.reasite.com

our team possesses an unequaled combination of creativity, experience 
and expertise uniquely suited to the proposed expansion and enhancement 
of the current columbus Bicycle and pedestrian plan.  We will assist caMpo 
and its partners in the identification and development of innovative and 
implementatable bicycle and pedestrian projects that would bring the 
community to an advanced level of bicycle friendliness with the associated 
health, safety and quality-of-life benefits.  

RUNDELL ERNSTBERGER ASSOCIATES, LLC will serve as lead consultant, 
cordinating the efforts of our team and leading the urban design and 
landscape architecture services for the project out of our Indianapolis office.  
Established in 1979, REA is widely recognized for innovative, creative, and 
sustainable urban design that transforms communities through projects such 
as Campus Martius Park in detroit, Main Street Square in Rapid city, and 
the Glick Peace Walk in Indianapolis.  REA has extensive experience leading 
multi-disciplinary teams and and has led the planning and design efforts 
on more transportation enhancement projects than any other landscape 
architecture firm in the state.

Rea has a long history of leading the planning and design efforts on a wide 
variety of alternative transportation and urban infrastructure projects, such 
as the Monon Rail~Trail, the Louisville Southwest Greenways Master Plan 
and the Indianapolis Cultural Trail, the country's premier urban bikeway. Rea 
has been a pioneering advocate of complete streets and is proven leader in 
pedestrian-focused urban design - including urban bikeways, streetscapes, 
and public spaces.  We understand the role of mobility options, walkability, 
and smart growth solutions in the development of economically, socially, and 
environmentally sustainable communities.  

SPRINkLE CONSULTING, INC. will lead the bicycle and pedestrian planning  
services for the project.  Established in 1979, Sprinkle is a nationwide 
planning and engineering firm headquartered in Tampa, Florida. Sprinkle 
Consulting serves communities throughout North America in all aspects of 
bicycle and pedestrian transportation including long-range area wide planning, 
facility design, research studies on safety and operational characteristics 
for non-motorized modes, and the development of new evaluative and 
predictive tools for use by planners. Grounded in traditional transportation 
planning and engineering, they develop and apply cutting-edge methods 
and technologies to provide innovative solutions to the common challenges 
faced by transportation agencies seeking to better integrate bicyclists and 
pedestrians into their networks. Because of their innovative yet practical 
partnership approach to transportation planning, the plans produced by 
sprinkle consulting result in projects being built immediately.

CONTACT
Kevin Osburn, ASLA, PLA
Principal 
618 East Market Street
Indianapolis, Indiana 46202
kosburn@reasite.com
317.263.0127
www.reasite.com

Team Information

REA | 33%
Sprinkle | 67%

% OF WORk

Our team has the capacity to 
complete this project in a timely, 
efficient manner.  Key Staff 
Members will be assigned to the 
project for its duration, ensuring 
a high level of responsiveness, 
experience, and timeliness.  
The core team assigned to the 
project is supported by REA's and 
Sprinkle's combined staff total 
of 35 in seven offices, enabling 
us to provide a technically 
solid, highly creative, and fully 
implementable planning and 
design solutions for this project. 

CAPACITY

2



Rundell eRnstbeRgeR AssociAtes, llc

IndIanapolIs, In  |  MuncIe, In   |  louIsVIlle, ky  |  www.reasite.com

The Rea-sprinkle team members that will work on this project are the same 
individuals that have successfully completed our team’s award-winning portfolio 
of active transportation projects.   Our experience is comprehensive, from planning 
and design through implementation and construction oversight.

RUNDELL ERNSTBERGER ASSOCIATES, LLC 
kevin Osburn, PLA, ASLA | Kevin is principal-in-charge of REA’s Indianapolis 
office, with over 22 years of experience, serving as project manager and lead 
designer for some of the firm’s most complex urban planning and design 
projects.  He has extensive expertise in pedestrian and bicycle transportation 
projects, including the Indianapolis Cultural Trail and the Monon Rail~Trail 
in Indianapolis, the Maple City Greenway in Goshen, IN, and the 4th Street 
Enhancments in columbus.  Most recently he has the led the master planning 
for Switchyard Park in Bloomington, IN, which includes over six miles of 
proposed pedestrian and bicycle facilities integrated within the city's existing 
system of mulit-use paths and bike lanes.  As Team Leader, Kevin will serve as 
the primary point of contact and oversee all aspects of the  project, including 
schedule, consultant team coordination, public outreach, development of 
design concepts and standards, and document production.

Tricia Smallwood, PLA, LEED AP |  Tricia has over 15 years experience in site 
architecture, planning, and urban design for a variety of public and private 
clients.  Her portfolio of work includes greenway plans, roadway enhancement 
plans, park and open space plans, master planning, corporate site design, low 
impact site development, public design manuals, and urban plaza design.  Her 
extensive bicycle and pedestrian planning and design experience includes the 
Southwest Greenway Master Plan for the Louisville Metro Parks Department 
which identifies a network of paths, on street bike facilities, and greenway 
corridors that builds upon the legacy of Louisville’s Olmsted parks and parkways 
to connect neighborhoods to natural areas, historic sites and community 
facilities.  Tricia is currently leading the design and  implementation of the 
Olmsted Parkways Bicycle and Pedestrian Improvements project which will 
create improved pedestrian and bicycle opportunities along eight miles of 
historic parkways in Louisville. 

SPRINkLE CONSULTING, INC.
Bruce W. Landis, PE, AICP | Bruce is a national leader in active transportation 
planning and design. His analysis, planning, engineering, design, and 
construction project experience with bicycle and pedestrian facilities totals 
in the hundreds. This experience, coupled with his nationwide transportation 
safety and operational studies, intersection and urban streetscape designs, 
and roadway designs, qualifies him as among the most widely experienced 
transportation design and engineering professionals in the united states. 
Bruce helps transportation professionals across country meet the challenges 
in providing efficient, safe facilities that promote walking and bicycling. His 
nationwide expertise in pedestrian and bicycle facilities planning, design and 
operations led to his selection by FHWA to develop the national curriculum 
for the National Highway Institute’s popular Pedestrian and Bicycle Facilities 
design courses.  He is now the lead instructor training municipal and state 
doT engineers throughout the united states. numerous state doTs and local 
agencies have also engaged Bruce to develop their design standards and/or 
develop and teach their agency’s pedestrian and bicycle facility design curricula. 

Key Staff Qualifications

3



Rundell eRnstbeRgeR AssociAtes, llc

IndIanapolIs, In  |  MuncIe, In   |  louIsVIlle, ky  |  www.reasite.com

For nearly two decades, as both a professional engineer and certified land use 
/ regional planner, he has led multi-disciplinary teams conducting a vast array 
of statewide, regional, areawide and corridor-level multi-modal evaluations, 
studies, master plans and designing facilities and creating construction 
documents. His evaluations target the transportation systems’ infrastructure 
and/or agencies’ policy responses to their respective communities’ social, 
economic and environmental needs considering current conditions and growth 
trends. Bruce and his staff integrate public involvement, stakeholder input, and 
community and agency leadership for comparison with transportation systems 
or alternatives within corridors, then develop options, alternatives and feasibility. 

Theodore A. Petritsch, P.E., PTOE | Theo is a nationally recognized expert in 
multimodal transportation planning, modeling, design, operations and safety. He 
works on the local, state and national levels developing guidelines for the design 
and operation of neighborhood streets, traffic calming features, intersection 
design, and pedestrian and bicycle facilities. Theo leads groundbreaking 
transportation demand modeling efforts such as creating the induced 
recreational travel model for non-motorized transportation and has helped 
develop the first field calibrated mode shift model to estimate the utilitarian 
use of non-motorized transportation facilities and the energy conservation and 
health benefits resulting from this usage. In addition to research evaluating 
the travel demand management benefits of infrastructure improvements, he 
has also documented the benefits of employer incentives for non-motorized 
transportation, safe Routes to school programs, land use patterns, transit 
linkages, and educational/promotional activities.   

Peyton S. McLeod | peyton Mcleod is a project Transportation planner who 
manages numerous multimodal transportation planning projects.  His wide 
range of experience coordinating projects includes multimodal complete 
Streets level of service analyses,  non-motorized trip prediction techniques, 
energy conservation studies, transportation facilities and conditions mapping, 
national transportation safety studies, multimodal facility demand analyses, 
and evaluations of transit systems.   Mr. McLeod helps a variety of jurisdictions 
develop network evaluation and project prioritization methodologies to rank and 
implement non-motorized transportation projects. His experience includes using 
innovative GIS methods to determine non-motorized transportation demand and 
the Highway Capacity Manual pedestrian and bicycle level of service models. 
He recently coordinated a statewide research project to develop a Mode Shift 
and Induced Recreational demand model to predict the use of planned facility 
improvements.

Marni Ratzel | Marni has over 13 years of experience as an expert in public 
sector bicycle and pedestrian planning.  She helps develop transportation 
demand management strategies to reduce vehicle miles traveled and increase 
quality of life in communities.  Her knowledge spans the spectrum of raising 
public awareness of the rights and responsiblities of bicyclists and pedestrians, 
coordinating events, developing marketing and information campaigns, 
prioritizing and funding facility enhancements and launching programs that 
support a sustainable transportation system. as the Bicycle & pedestrian 
Transportation planner for the city of Boulder, she has been instrumental in 
helping Boulder attain and retain their league of american Bicyclists platinum 
Level “Bicycle Friendly Community” designation.   Marni also held the positions 
of Borough Planner for the Brooklyn Borough Commisioner’s Office and 
deputy director of the citywide Bicycle program for the nyc department of 
Transportation.  she has a solid understanding of municipal political process, 
budget procedures and government agency funding. 

Key Staff Qualifications  (continued)

4



Rundell eRnstbeRgeR AssociAtes, llc

IndIanapolIs, In  |  MuncIe, In   |  louIsVIlle, ky  |  www.reasite.com

PROJECT LOCATION
AASHTO Guide for the Development of Bicycle Facilities  N/A 
Bicycle and Pedestrian Master Plan  Louisville, KY
Bicycle Master plan  Rochester, ny
Bikeways plan  Rocky Mount, nc 
city-Wide Bicycle network plan  philadelphia, pa
cool creek Trail north carmel, In
clear creek Trail Bloomington, In
community Trail network n. Manchester, In 
community Bike share program Indianapolis, In
Comprehensive Bicycle Safety Plan  Miami-Dade, FL
DOT Bicycle Facilities Design Training  Colorado
Fall Creek Greenway Indianapolis, IN
FHWA Pedestrian ITS Countermeasures  N/A
First Coast MPO Greenways & Trails Master Plan  Jacksonville, FL
Indian creek Trail corydon, In
Indianapolis cultural Trail Indianapolis, In
Indy Parks Greenways Signage Standards Indianapolis, IN
Jackson Creek Trail Master Plan Bloomington, IN
little Turtle Waterway Master plan logansport, In
Madison Heritage Trail Madison, In
Maple City Greenway Goshen, IN
Midblock Trail Crossing Treatments Protocol MAG, AZ
Mishawaka North Shore Riverwalk Mishawaka, IN
Monon Rail-Trail Indianapolis, In
Monon - Midland Trace Trails Master Plan Westfield, IN
Mpo Bicycle & pedestrian data collection project  san antonio, TX
Multi-modal Transportation Plan  Scottsdale, AZ
non-motorized demand analysis  Westchester, ny
Olmsted Parkways Bicycle and Pedestrian Improvements Louisville, KY
Pinellas Trail / Downtown Connector Shared Use-Pathway    St. Petersburg, FL
Regional Bicycle and ped plan  chicago, Il
Regional Bicycle & Walking conditions assessment  lexington, ky
Regional Bikeways Implementation plan  Buffalo, new york
Plainfield Greenways Plainfield, IN
Salt Creek Trail Nashville, IN
Southwest Greenway Master Plan Louisville, KY
Rivergreenway Master Plan Ft. Wayne, IN
Wabash River Recreation Plan 5 County Region, IN
White River Corridor Master Plan Anderson, IN
White River Greenway Master Plan Muncie, IN

a selected list of pedestrian and bicycle planning and design projects, studies, 
and programs completed by the Rea-sprinkle project team members.  our 
collective portfolio of work is comprehensive and unparalleled, representing a 
complete package of bicycle and pedestrian planning and design experience 
necessary for this undertaking.  additional project examples can be found on 
our firm websites at www.reasite.com and www.sprinkleconsulting.com.

Experience

5

http://www.reasite.com
www.sprinkleconsulting.com


Rundell eRnstbeRgeR AssociAtes, llc

IndIanapolIs, In  |  MuncIe, In   |  louIsVIlle, ky  |  www.reasite.com

Scope of Services 
The following outline addresses the Scope of Work outlined in the RFP; it is in-
tended as a preliminary outline that can be refined based on discussions with 
CAMPO.  The outline addresses the stated primary objectives of the study - Ex-
pansion of the columbus, Indiana Bicycle & pedestrian plan, one Way street 
Study, and Sidewalk and Pedestrian Facility Analysis - as well as the desire to 
position Columbus to achieve advanced levels of bicycle friendliness as deter-
mined by the League of American Bicyclists.  As requested, we have also in-
cluded some unique services that will help in attainment of these objectives.   A 
general timeline for the completion of each task is also included; the proposed 
overall timeline is seven (7) months.  

Bicycle and Pedestrian Plan Implementation Committee | Months 1-7 
The REA-Sprinkle Team will attend up to four (4) meetings with the Implementation 
Committee, including a project kick offf meeting and up to three (3) meetings 
throughout the planning process.  In conjunction with the initial project kick-off 
meeting, the Rea-sprinkle Team proposes an Implementing Partners Facility 
Design Workshop. Intended principally for the technical staff of the municipal, 
county, and state agencies who will be active in designing, constructing, and 
operating the infrastructure components of the Plan, this highly interactive 
design workshop will yield many benefits for CAMPO, enabling traffic and 
roadway engineers to become familiar with new findings and upcoming changes 
in national standards that now enable the accommodating of all modes within 
constrained rights-of-way.  New findings in roadway capacity, highway safety, and 
changes in roadway cross-section design will be topics presented and discussed 
in great detail in a collaborative learning environment. REA-Sprinkle key staff, 
the lead instructors of the National Highway Institute’s Bicycle and Pedestrian 
Facilities Design Courses, will develop and lead this special workshop for 
Columbus that will accomplish several important objectives: build relationships 
with the region’s traffic and roadway engineers,  introduce contemporary and 
emerging design approaches to accommodate bicycling and walking, enable 
them to do more innovative things on their own, and invest them in the creation 
of the Plan and foster motivatation for its implementation.

Public Participation | Month 2 and Month 6   
The REA-Sprinkle Team envisions two points in the planning process where public 
participation will be most beneficial. The first would be a “needs identification” 
meeting or workshop held early in the planning process. Participants will provide 
valuable insight into the community’s expectations regarding the level of bicycle 
and pedestrian accommodation provided by the area’s streets and the types of 
facilities that are most desired.  In addition, participants can “vote” for locations 
of specific needed improvements, the results of which can be used as an 
element in prioritizing recommended facilities (as described below). A second 
public event, likely to occur when the majority of work products are available 
in draft form, would represent a “confirmation” meeting. This event provides a 
summary of the Plan’s progress to that point, with an emphasis on illustrating 
how people’s input was directly incorporated; residents see in tangible ways 
that their opinions are used by planners and decision makers.  We have found 
this approached encourages residents to remain engaged in the process and 
stay interested and very supportive through the Plan implementation stages.

Bicycle & Pedestrian Plan Expansion |  Months 2-5
The basis for many plan expansion elements is a thorough and concentrated 
field review and data collection event for an established study roadway network.  
This multi-day effort will be led by REA-Sprinkle Team key staff, but would benefit 
from active participation by MPO/City staff.  Performing this work collaboratively 

6



Rundell eRnstbeRgeR AssociAtes, llc

IndIanapolIs, In  |  MuncIe, In   |  louIsVIlle, ky  |  www.reasite.com

Scope of Services   (continued)

will enable staff to more fully understand the data and resulting analyses 
and to then carry out the Plan’s recommendations.  Data collection elements 
would likely include the following: roadway geometry information needed to 
perform existing conditions evaluations (i.e. bicycle and pedestrian level of 
service); supplemental roadway data needed to identify facility improvement 
opportunities, such as pavement width, median type, and right-of-way width; 
characteristics of parallel local streets for identification of bicycle boulevard 
and bike route candidates; and intersection and mid-block crossing facilities, 
opportunities, and constraints.

The resulting multi-modal level of service evaluations (pioneered by members 
of the REA-Sprinkle Team and now included in the Highway Capacity Manual) will 
provide the MPO with a snapshot of existing conditions, a method for identifying 
network “gaps,” a measure of perceived safety, and a key element of the Plan’s 
prioritization methodology. While level of service provides a technically sound 
representation of non-motorized facility supply, a similar measure of demand 
is a second key aspect of determining project priorities.  Team members also 
developed the widely used Latent Demand method, which is a gravity model that 
provides a relative measure of the propensity for bicycling and walking on the 
network streets, assuming a conducive bicycling and walking environment.  We 
will explore this and related (simplified) demand analysis options with CAMPO.  

The Plan’s data collection and analysis components will yield the identification 
of all facility improvement types and locations, both construction and non-
construction, identified in the scope.  Just as importantly, locations that currently 
provide good bicycle and pedestrian accommodation (as defined through 
the Public Participation activities) will also be identified. All recommended 
facilities will be evaluated through the existing conditions and demand analyses 
described above, as well as from the perspectives of both public-identified need 
and associated implementation costs. Collectively, this information allows for 
the creation of a straightforward and easily implemented benefit-cost analysis 
that can serve as a clear guide for the Plan’s implementation for years to come.

A final element of the Plan Expansion is the identification of new goals, policies, 
and metrics.  The MPO’s existing plan provides an excellent starting point for 
this task, but opportunities for enhancements will be identified, with a focus 
on potential for crash reductions and strategies to increase both utilitarian 
and recreational travel.  The REA-Sprinkle Team includes a municipal planner 
who was instrumental in helping a city (Boulder, CO) achieve Platinum Bicycle 
Friendly Community designation form the league of american Bicyclists.  We 
will accordingly focus the development of goals, policies, and metrics toward 
helping columbus make similar strides.

One-Way Street Study |  Months 3-4
The potential safety and operational benefits to bicyclists and pedestrians 
created by the conversion of one-way streets to two-way streets are numerous 
and diverse. The most obvious of these benefits (particularly on signalized 
streets) is the slowing of motor vehicle traffic. Furthermore, at driveways and 
other intersections, motorists are forced to scan in both directions at two-way 
streets, which can mitigate pedestrian crashes (and wrong-way riding bicycle 
crashes). An often overlooked additional consideration is the reduced travel 
distance and time for bicyclists who are not forced to make a series of turns 
to reach their destinations. This topic is often considered from a motorist 
perspective, but represents an even greater consideration (as a function of 

7



Rundell eRnstbeRgeR AssociAtes, llc

IndIanapolIs, In  |  MuncIe, In   |  louIsVIlle, ky  |  www.reasite.com

overall trip length) for bicyclists. It should be noted that contraflow bike lanes 
help alleviate this problem on one-way streets, and locations for such facilities 
will be recommended in a prior plan task.

This one-way street study task will focus on identifying these and other non-
motorized transportation benefits. It will include a review of Columbus’ existing 
one-way street operations and may include some preliminary location-specific 
recommendations, but will likely focus on a broader area-wide approach. The 
REA-Sprinkle Team is experienced in providing advice on additional key aspects 
of conversion (such as outreach to local businesses).

Sidewalk and Pedestrian Facilities | Months 2-5
The field data collection and review described above will also include a detailed 
inventory of the area’s sidewalks and conditions.  The REA-Sprinkle team will 
coordinate with CAMPO to ensure that the resulting data is provided in a format 
that enables seamless integration with the existing sidewalk inventory.  By 
collecting sidewalk width, buffer presence/width, and presence of trees in buffer 
zones (all elements of pedestrian level of service), there may be opportunities 
to enhance the existing inventory.  The collected data will be conducive to the 
creation of thematic maps that indicate presence of facilities, existing conditions, 
and locations of gaps (note that gaps can be defined purely by the absence of a 
facility and/or by poor accommodation, regardless of facility presence or type, 
based on other operational factors). 

Historical residential development patterns have unintentionally created a built 
environment that is generally not conducive to bicycle and pedestrian travel, in 
large part because of the lack of non-motorized connections between adjacent 
communities. This leads to dependence on motor vehicle travel for short trips 
such as errands, school trips, and social visits. The REA-Sprinkle Team will 
identify locations for potential non-motorized connections (usually in the form 
of a short shared use path connecting existing streets) that have the greatest 
potential to replace short motor vehicle trips.  In addition to these recommended 
retrofit facilities, it is equally important to review this situation from a policy 
perspective.  We will share approaches we have developed for other regions 
that create a land use pattern matrix of recommended minimum intervals for 
non-motorized connections among residential neighborhoods to ensure that 
future development considers the needs of bicyclists and pedestrians. 

Final Deliverables | Month 6 (Draft) & Month 7 (Final) 
The REA-Sprinkle Team’s approach is that we are always working on final 
deliverables from the outset of the project, which will help ensure quick plan 
adoption.  Wherever possible and appropriate, work products will be a collaborative 
effort including city and CAMPO staff, as well as the Plan’s committee. This 
collaborative involvement, which will extend to base data collection and every 
other Plan development stage, will create widespread investment in the Plan’s 
recommendations and thereby lead to its full implementation.
  

     

   

Scope of Services   (continued)

8



Rundell eRnstbeRgeR AssociAtes, llc

IndIanapolIs, In  |  MuncIe, In   |  louIsVIlle, ky  |  www.reasite.com

Fee Proposal

PM LA Services Sr. Eng. Planner Services
1.1 Identify opportunities for non-construction bicycle facilities such as bike 

lane restripes, road diets, and sharrows - includes collection of geometric 
data for study network

4 740$             8 48 5,320$          6,060$          

1.2 Identify opportunities for constructed bike/ped facilities such as cycle 
tracks and pedestrian crossing installations - includes supplemental data 
collection

4 740$             24 40 7,120$          7,860$          

1.3 Advise the MPO on identifying bike boulevard candidates and associated 
components 2 370$             8 32 3,960$          4,330$          

1.4 Propose improvements based on Tasks 1.1 & 1.2 above
2 370$             4 16 1,980$          2,350$          

1.5 Prioritize Task 1.4 improvements - includes facility cost estimates, 
existing conditions analysis, and demand analysis 4 740$             16 76 8,940$          9,680$          

1.6 Review existing goals, objectives, policies, and performance measures 
and suggest additions and refinements 2 12 1,570$          2 4 650$             2,220$          

2.1 Review downtown one-way streets that are potential two-way conversions 
and identify associated bicycle and pedestrian benefits 2 370$             8 40 4,640$          5,010$          

3.1 Coordinate an update to the existing sidewalk inventory based on data 
collected in Task 1 2 370$             2 16 1,670$          2,040$          

3.2 Identify potential locations for, and types of, connector paths
4 24 3,140$          2 4 650$             3,790$          

3.3 Create thematic display of pedestrian gaps based on Task 1 existing 
conditions and demand analyses 2 370$             16 1,360$          1,730$          

4.1 Prepare materials for and conduct two public workshops or meetings - 
needs identification (early) and confirmation (late) 8 32 4,680$          16 1,360$          6,040$          

5.1 Attend Kick-off meeting and up to three subsequent meetings with 
Implementation Committee, including Implementing Partners Facility 
Design Workshop

16 16 4,560$          4 32 3,340$          7,900$          

6.1 Prepare final project deliverables
4 32 3,940$          2 16 1,670$          5,610$          

Hours by Staff 56 116 172 80 356 436 608
Billable Rate $185 $100 $155 $85
Labor Cost $10,360 $11,600 $21,960 $12,400 $30,260 $42,660 $64,620
Travel $6,300
Expenses (2% of services) $1,292
Total Project Cost $72,212

Total
REA Sprinkle

Bicycle & Pedestrian Plan Expansion | Columbus, IN

The REA-Sprinkle Team has defined a scope of work and timeline to complete a successful bicycle and pedestrian plan 
eexpansion fo Columbus.  We look forward to further discussions with CAMPO on the specifics of the scope of work, 
process, extent of community outreach and input, work products, and final deliverables in order to ensure CAMPO’s goals 
for the planning effort are comprehensively addressed.  Based upon our current understanding of the project and the 
Scope of Work provided in the RFP, we estimate our team's fees would be approximately $65,000 plus expenses, as 
indicated below.   

We also understand there are budget limitations and we remain flexible and open to scope modifications that would 
reflect a lower fee range, pending further discussions with CAMPO.  Our goal is to establish a successful partnership 
with caMpo and to become the preferred bicycle & pedestrian consulting team assisting the columbus community with 
their goals of improved public health, reduced congestion, increased bicycling and walkability, and a higher quality of life. 

9



Rundell eRnstbeRgeR AssociAtes, llc

IndIanapolIs, In  |  MuncIe, In   |  louIsVIlle, ky  |  www.reasite.com

References

Rochester Bicycle Master Plan | Rochester, NY

Mr. Erik Frisch
Transportation specialist
city of Rochester
Frische@CityofRochester.gov
(585) 428.6709

Region Bicycle Transportation & Pedestrian Walkways Plan | Atlanta, GA

Ms. Regan Hammond
principal planner
atlanta Regional commision
RHammond@atlantaregional.com
(404) 463.3269

Indianapolis Cultural Trail | Indianapolis, IN

Mr. Lori Miser
director
city of Indianapolis
LMiser@indygov.org
(317) 327.5083

Southwest Greenways Master Plan| Louisville, KY

Ms. Lisa Hite       
senior planner
Louisville Metro Parks Department
Lisa.Hite@louisvilleky.gov
(502) 456.8139

RUNDELL ERNSTBERGER ASSOCIATES, LLC 

SPRINkLE CONSULTING, INC. 

"Of the thousands of decisions I made 
as Mayor, one of the very best was to 
pick Rundell Ernstberger Associates to 
help make the Maple City Greenway a 
reality."   
 - Mike Puro

Former Mayor of Goshen, IN

"The facility design workshop 
conducted for implementing agency 
staff was invaluable. As a result, we 
are already implementing the plan's 
roadway restriping recommendations. 
We would not be in the position we're 
in had we not selected the Sprinkle 
Team.”

 - Mr. Erik Frisch
Transportation Specialist

City of Rochester, NY

10



 

Page 1 of 3 

Request for Proposals 

State Street Corridor Plan 
City of Columbus – Bartholomew County, Indiana Planning Department 

November 2, 2012 

Location: Columbus, Indiana 
Submit Proposal By:   November 20, 2012, no later than 4:00 pm EST 
 
 
Introduction: 
The City of Columbus, Indiana, through the City of Columbus – Bartholomew County Planning Department, 
is seeking a well-qualified consultant to complete a land use and transportation plan for Columbus’ State 
Street Corridor.  The State Street corridor extends approximately 2 miles through the City of Columbus.  
State Street itself is also State Road 46, is under the jurisdiction of the Indiana Department of Transportation, 
and features a total of 5 lanes of traffic (2 through lanes in each direction and a center turn lane). The 
properties adjacent to State Street feature a mixture of residential, commercial, industrial, and institutional 
uses.  In many instances the usability and redevelopment potential of the adjacent properties is limited by 
their small size and the expansion of State Street over time, which has resulted in some atypical building 
setbacks and parking arrangements.  The surrounding neighborhoods are characterized by an aging housing 
stock and primarily low to moderate income households.  The City of Columbus seeks a land use and 
transportation plan for the corridor that contains both a long-term land use planning component and a short-
term, readily implementable strategic plan for redevelopment. 
 
The City of Columbus, population 45,000, is a regional center for employment, health care, finances, 
shopping, and entertainment in south-eastern Indiana.  Columbus is known for its strong local economy, 
vibrant downtown, high quality of life, and overall commitment to community excellence.  Our community’s 
recognitions include a ranking by the American Institute of Architects as the 6th most significant city in the 
United States for architectural design.  For more information about our community please visit the City of 
Columbus website at www.columbus.in.gov or the Columbus Area Visitor Center website at 
www.columbus.in.us.   
 
 
Project Description:                     
The City of Columbus anticipates a project that will include the following components: 
 

 Review of Property Features: A review of the existing land uses and land use patterns along and in 
the vicinity of the corridor; general parcel sizes, shapes and arrangements; ownership patterns; and 
general site configurations (including parking).  The review should document current conditions and 
identify resulting issues and opportunities. 

 Review of Transportation Features: A review of the current street design and condition, general 
vehicle access patterns, pedestrian and bicycle circulation (both along and crossing State Street), 
and bus routes, stops, rider destinations, and sources of ridership.  The review should document 
current conditions and identify resulting issues and opportunities. 

 Market Analysis: An analysis of the current and long-term market demand for commercial 
development along the corridor. The market analysis will identify the amount and type of commercial 
development that can be supported along the corridor (both under current conditions and if any 
identified barriers to development can be resolved). The market analysis will identify barriers to 
demand and any options for local government in addressing those barriers.  The market analysis will 
be used as a basis for establishing future land use recommendations and realistic re-development 
goals. 

 Review of Local Policies and Planning Documents: A review of the Columbus Comprehensive Plan, 
Zoning Ordinance, subdivision regulations, housing study, and other regulations, policies, 



 

Page 2 of 3 

procedures and documents applicable to State Street.  The review should both establish a context 
for the State Street Corridor Plan and identify any barriers and opportunities for redevelopment. 

 Review of Streetscape Features & Aesthetics: A review of the functionality and appeal of the current 
State Street streetscape.  The review shall consider the corridor’s role as a gateway to Columbus, as 
a neighborhood and community shopping area, and as an employment district. 

 Public Input: Collection of public input that includes both (1) initial public preferences and issue 
identification and (2) follow-up public responses to draft findings and recommendations. 

 Steering Committee Facilitation:  Facilitation of periodic input from a steering committee of local 
residents, business owners, and City officials. 

 Creation of Redevelopment Plan Content: Development of a strategic, implementable redevelopment 
plan component for the corridor that includes (1) identification and recommendations for critical 
properties; (2) identification of redevelopment opportunities; (3) recommendations for streetscape 
and aesthetic improvements; (4) recommendations for transportation improvements necessary to 
provide a complete, pedestrian and bicyclist friendly, transit-supporting street system; (5) 
recommendations for the elimination of any barriers to redevelopment; (6) recommendations for 
zoning or other regulatory or policy changes in support of redevelopment; and (7) recommendations 
for financing and implementing redevelopment projects. 

 Creation of Long-term Land Use Plan Content:  Development of a land use plan component for the 
corridor that would be a suitable addition to the City of Columbus Comprehensive Plan.  This content 
should function in support of and coordination with the redevelopment plan content and should 
include long-term land-use recommendations, access management recommendations, general site 
design recommendations (including parking), and other recommended policies and procedures for 
the long-term governance of the area by local government. 

 INDOT Coordination: Facilitation of communication, engagement, and solicitation of buy-in with the 
Indiana Department of Transportation with regard to the planning and design of future State Street 
improvements. 

 Creation of a Plan Document and Support Materials: Creation of draft and final State Street Corridor 
Plan documents as well as any displays, presentations, or other materials necessary to convey the 
contents of the Plan.  The documents and support materials shall be suitable for both communicating 
the plan to the general public and the long-term use of the City’s professional staff. 
 

The preliminary study area for the project is as shown on the attached map.  However, it is recognized that 
the findings of the project may dictate changes to the study area boundaries. 
 
The City of Columbus – Bartholomew County Planning Department can dedicate staff to provide assistance 
in collecting background documents and other information, facilitating steering committee meetings, 
facilitating public input events, and otherwise supporting the project.  The Planning Department will generate 
all documentation necessary for the adoption of the State Street Corridor Plan as an element of the City of 
Columbus Comprehensive Plan.  However, the consultant will be responsible for making any edits to the 
Plan document itself identified through the Comprehensive Plan adoption process.  
 
 
Proposal Submittal Requirements: 
Interested consultants shall submit seven (7) identical copies of their proposal and include the items listed 
below.  Proposals shall be limited to maximum of 20 pages - single sided, 8½ by 11 inches (or 10 such 
pages doubled sided).  Interested consultants are welcome to team with other firms or add sub-consultants 
necessary to complete the project.  All proposals must address all aspects of the project. 
 

 Firm Information: The name of the firm, its website address, and the location of the office from which 
the work will be completed.  If a team of firms or sub-consultants will be used, identify all included 
firms, the lead firm, and the general percentage of work to be completed by each firm. 

 Qualifications: The qualifications of the consultant’s staff members who are proposed to complete 
the project.  Include only those staff members who will be active members of the project team.  Do 
not include any firm leadership members who will not actively participate in the project. 



 

Page 3 of 3 

 Experience: Related and similar projects previously completed by those consultant staff members 
proposed to complete the project.  Do not include similar projects completed by the consultant, but 
by different staff members. 

 Scope of Services Outline: A general outline of the consultant’s proposed scope of services that 
demonstrates the consultant’s understanding of the project, intended overall approach, and any 
unique resources or practices to be applied to the project. 

 Fee Proposal: A proposed lump sum fee to complete the project. 

 Timeline: A general timeline for completing the project. 

 References: Two references for which the consultant has completed similar projects, including the 
title of that project and the reference’s name, address, and phone number. 

 Contact Information:  Contact information for the individual to whom questions about the proposal 
should be directed (including a mailing address, phone number, and e-mail address). 

Submit To: 
State Street Proposal Review Committee 
c/o Jeff Bergman 
City of Columbus – Bartholomew County Planning Department 
123 Washington Street 
Columbus, IN  47201 
 
Submit By: 
4:00 p.m. EST on November 20, 2012 
   
Contact for Questions:    
Jeff Bergman 
City of Columbus – Bartholomew County Planning Department 
Phone: 812.376.2550 
E-mail: jbergman@columbus.in.gov 
 
 
Selection Procedures:  
 
The consultant shall be selected based on the following factors, in order of importance, (1) qualifications, (2) 
project approach, (3) related experience, (4) timeline, and (5) fee.  The proposals will be reviewed by a 
committee of local officials and stakeholders. Interviews with a shortlist of consultants are likely prior to a 
final selection being made. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



St
at

e 
St

re
et

 
C

or
rid

or
 P

la
n 

Pr
el

im
in

ar
y 

St
ud

y 
A

re
a

S
ta

te
 S

tre
et

 C
or

rid
or

 P
la

n 
P

re
lim

in
ar

y 
S

tu
dy

 A
re

a
C

ity
 o

f C
ol

um
bu

s 
–

B
ar

th
ol

om
ew

 C
ou

nt
y 

P
la

nn
in

g 
D

ep
ar

tm
en

t
N

ov
em

be
r 1

, 2
01

2

St
at

e 
St

re
et

C
ol

um
bu

s,
 In

di
an

a


















































	A. Minutes of the August 6, 2012 meeting
	B. Consider for adoption the 2013-2014 Statement of Work (SOW)
	1. Resolution 2012-12 – Resolution to Adopt the Statement of Work for Calendar Years 2013 & 2014

	C. Consider for approval changes to the CAMPO Urban Area Boundary
	1. Resolution 2012-13 – Amend the CAMPO Urban Area Boundary based on the 2010 Census Urbanized Area

	D. Consider for approval changes to the Transportation Improvement Program (TIP)
	1. Resolution 2012-14 – Amend existing INDOT projects in TIP
	2. Resolution 2012-15 – Amend new INDOT projects into TIP
	3. Resolution 2012-16 – Remove eliminated INDOT projects from TIP

	E. ColumBUS Transit Improvement & Expansion Plan – RFP out – Due Dec 5th
	F. Columbus Bicycle & Pedestrian Plan Expansion – RFP out – Due Dec 6th
	G. Budgets
	1. MPO City budgets (2012 & 2013)
	2. INDOT reimbursement budget

	H. Next meeting – Dec 14, 2012
	Statement of Work 2013-2014 - Final2.pdf
	Introduction
	CAMPO Policy Board
	Voting Members
	Non-Voting Ex-Officio Members

	Technical Committee
	2013 & 2014 Statement of Work
	Administration
	Annual Documents
	Planning Support
	2013 & 2014 Work Program Specific Products
	ColumBUS Transit Route Expansion & improvement Plan
	Bike / Pedestrian - Infrastructure scenarios & Inventory
	Bike & Ped Plan Update
	GIS Pedestrian Facility Inventory

	“Complete Network” Plan
	Travel Demand Model
	Multi-modal Scenario Planning
	Transportation Plan Update

	Downtown Parking Plan
	State Street Corridor Study
	Columbus Transportation Safety Team
	Bike Boulevard & Cyclovia / Sunday Parkways
	Travel Demand Management Programs
	Revenues & Expenses – 2014
	2 CFR 225 Direct Cost Certification

	Adoption Resolution
	Metropolitan Transportation Planning Process Certification

	Agenda 12_11_30.pdf
	A. Minutes of the August 6, 2012 meeting
	B. Consider for adoption the 2013-2014 Statement of Work (SOW)
	1. Resolution 2012-12 – Resolution to Adopt the Statement of Work for Calendar Years 2013 & 2014

	C. Consider for approval changes to the CAMPO Urban Area Boundary
	1. Resolution 2012-13 – Amend the CAMPO Urban Area Boundary based on the 2010 Census Urbanized Area

	D. Consider for approval changes to the Transportation Improvement Program (TIP)
	1. Resolution 2012-14 – Amend new INDOT projects into TIP

	E. ColumBUS Transit Improvement & Expansion Plan – RFP out – Due Dec 5th
	F. Columbus Bicycle & Pedestrian Plan Expansion – RFP out – Due Dec 6th
	G. Budgets
	1. MPO City budgets (2012 & 2013)
	2. INDOT reimbursement budget

	H. Next meeting – Dec 14, 2012
	1. 2013-2017 TIP amendments
	2. Bylaws
	3. Consultant selections


	ColumBUS_Transit RFP 3.pdf
	SELECTED ELEMENTS OF THE REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL
	FOR A COLUMBUS TRANSIT IMPROVEMENT & EXPANSION PLAN FOR THE
	CITY OF COLUMBUS TRANSIT FIXED-ROUTE SYSTEM
	City of Columbus Central Avenue Corridor Study (2007) – p22, 23, 25
	2005 Corradino ColumBUS Route Study
	2005 Corradino ColumBUS Route Study Summary Handout

	Columbus Bike & Ped Plan Expansion 1.pdf
	REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL
	FOR A COLUMBUS BICYCLE & PEDESTRIAN PLAN EXPANSION

	Agenda 12_11_30.pdf
	A. Minutes of the August 6, 2012 meeting
	B. Consider for adoption the 2013-2014 Statement of Work (SOW)
	1. Resolution 2012-12 – Resolution to Adopt the Statement of Work for Calendar Years 2013 & 2014

	C. Consider for approval changes to the CAMPO Urban Area Boundary
	1. Resolution 2012-13 – Amend the CAMPO Urban Area Boundary based on the 2010 Census Urbanized Area

	D. Consider for approval changes to the Transportation Improvement Program (TIP)
	1. Resolution 2012-14 – Amend new INDOT projects into TIP

	E. ColumBUS Transit Improvement & Expansion Plan – RFP out – Due Dec 5th
	F. Columbus Bicycle & Pedestrian Plan Expansion – RFP out – Due Dec 6th
	G. State Street Corridor Study – RFP responses received Nov 20th
	H. Budgets
	1. MPO City budgets (2012 & 2013)
	2. INDOT reimbursement budget

	I. Next meeting – Dec 14, 2012
	1. 2013-2017 TIP amendments
	2. Bylaws
	3. Consultant selections


	Agenda 12_11_30.pdf
	A. Minutes of the August 6, 2012 meeting
	B. Consider for adoption the 2013-2014 Statement of Work (SOW)
	1. Resolution 2012-12 – Resolution to Adopt the Statement of Work for Calendar Years 2013 & 2014

	C. Consider for approval changes to the CAMPO Urban Area Boundary
	1. Resolution 2012-13 – Amend the CAMPO Urban Area Boundary based on the 2010 Census Urbanized Area

	D. Consider for approval changes to the Transportation Improvement Program (TIP)
	1. Resolution 2012-14 – Amend new INDOT projects into TIP

	E. ColumBUS Transit Improvement & Expansion Plan – RFP out – Due Dec 5th
	F. Columbus Bicycle & Pedestrian Plan Expansion – RFP out – Due Dec 6th
	G. State Street Corridor Study – RFP responses received Nov 20th
	H. Budgets
	1. MPO City budgets (2012 & 2013)
	2. INDOT reimbursement budget

	I. Next meeting?

	Agenda 12_12_21.pdf
	A. Minutes of the August 6, 2012 meeting
	B. Consider for adoption the 2013-2014 Statement of Work (SOW)
	1. Resolution 2012-12 – Resolution to Adopt the Statement of Work for Calendar Years 2013 & 201

	C. Consider for approval changes to the CAMPO Urban Area Boundary
	1. Resolution 2012-13 – Amend the CAMPO Urban Area Boundary based on the 2010 Census Urbanized Area

	D. Consider for approval changes to the Transportation Improvement Program (TIP)
	1. Resolution 2012-14 – Amend new INDOT projects into TIP

	E. ColumBUS Transit Improvement & Expansion Plan – Parsons Brinckerhoff (Indy/Cincy)
	F. Columbus Bicycle & Pedestrian Plan Expansion – Rundell Ernstberger (Indy/Fl)
	G. State Street Corridor Study – Lakota Group (Chicago/South Bend)
	H. Budgets
	1. MPO City budgets (2012 & 2013)
	2. INDOT reimbursement budget

	I. Next meeting?

	Statement of Work 2013-2014 - Final3.pdf
	Introduction
	CAMPO Policy Board
	Voting Members
	Non-Voting Ex-Officio Members

	Technical Committee
	2013 & 2014 Statement of Work
	Administration
	Annual Documents
	Planning Support
	2013 & 2014 Work Program Specific Products
	ColumBUS Transit Route Expansion & improvement Plan
	Bike / Pedestrian - Infrastructure scenarios & Inventory
	Bike & Ped Plan Update
	GIS Pedestrian Facility Inventory

	“Complete Network” Plan
	Travel Demand Model
	Multi-modal Scenario Planning
	Transportation Plan Update

	Downtown Parking Plan
	State Street Corridor Study
	Columbus Transportation Safety Team
	Bike Boulevard & Cyclovia / Sunday Parkways
	Travel Demand Management Programs
	Revenues & Expenses – 2014
	2 CFR 225 Direct Cost Certification

	Adoption Resolution
	Metropolitan Transportation Planning Process Certification




